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PART I – FINANCIAL INFORMATION
Item 1.

Financial Statements
NUSTAR ENERGY L.P. AND SUBSIDIARIES
CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS
(Unaudited, Thousands of Dollars, Except Unit Data)
March 31,
2022

December 31,
2021

Assets
Current assets:
Cash and cash equivalents
Accounts receivable, net
Inventories
Prepaid and other current assets
Assets held for sale
Total current assets
Property, plant and equipment, at cost
Accumulated depreciation and amortization
Property, plant and equipment, net
Intangible assets, net
Goodwill
Other long-term assets, net

$

$

Total assets

8,398 $
142,527
19,310
15,079
86,458
271,772
5,625,080
(2,171,692)
3,453,388
546,679
732,356
125,730
5,129,925 $

5,637
135,126
16,644
27,135
—
184,542
5,728,848
(2,187,206)
3,541,642
557,785
732,356
140,007
5,156,332

Liabilities, Mezzanine Equity and Partners’ Equity
Current liabilities:
Accounts payable
Current portion of finance lease obligations
Accrued interest payable
Accrued liabilities
Taxes other than income tax
Liabilities held for sale
Total current liabilities
Long-term debt, less current portion
Deferred income tax liability
Other long-term liabilities
Total liabilities

$

70,360
4,000
72,107
54,447
10,196
66,496
277,606
3,168,425
2,848
137,763
3,586,642

$

82,446
3,848
34,139
79,818
14,475
—
214,726
3,183,555
11,831
147,956
3,558,068

Commitments and contingencies (Note 6)
Series D preferred limited partners (23,246,650 preferred units outstanding as of
March 31, 2022 and December 31, 2021) (Note 8)
Partners’ equity (Note 9):
Preferred limited partners
Series A (9,060,000 units outstanding as of March 31, 2022 and December 31, 2021)
Series B (15,400,000 units outstanding as of March 31, 2022 and December 31, 2021)
Series C (6,900,000 units outstanding as of March 31, 2022 and December 31, 2021)
Common limited partners (110,297,849 and 109,986,273 common units outstanding
as of March 31, 2022 and December 31, 2021, respectively)
Accumulated other comprehensive loss
Total partners’ equity
$

Total liabilities, mezzanine equity and partners’ equity
See Condensed Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements.
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621,018

616,439

218,307
371,476
166,518

218,307
371,476
166,518

239,010
(73,046)
922,265
5,129,925 $

299,502
(73,978)
981,825
5,156,332
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NUSTAR ENERGY L.P. AND SUBSIDIARIES
CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
(Unaudited, Thousands of Dollars, Except Unit and Per Unit Data)
Three Months Ended March 31,
2022
2021

Revenues:
Service revenues
Product sales
Total revenues
Costs and expenses:
Costs associated with service revenues:
Operating expenses (excluding depreciation and amortization expense)
Depreciation and amortization expense
Total costs associated with service revenues
Costs associated with product sales
Impairment loss
General and administrative expenses (excluding depreciation and amortization expense)
Other depreciation and amortization expense
Total costs and expenses
Operating income
Interest expense, net
Other income, net
Income before income tax (benefit) expense
Income tax (benefit) expense

$

Net income

$

Basic and diluted net (loss) income per common unit (Note 10)
Basic and diluted weighted-average common units outstanding

$

Comprehensive income

$
See Condensed Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements.
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265,305
144,558
409,863

$

271,883
89,763
361,646

86,402
63,303
149,705
126,715
46,122
27,071
1,824
351,437
58,426
(49,818)
3,671
12,279
(33)
12,312 $

87,287
68,418
155,705
81,113
—
24,492
2,047
263,357
98,289
(54,918)
398
43,769
1,512
42,257

(0.22) $
110,177,045

0.05
109,506,222

13,244

$

44,377
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NUSTAR ENERGY L.P. AND SUBSIDIARIES
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS
(Unaudited, Thousands of Dollars)
Three Months Ended March 31,
2022
2021

Cash Flows from Operating Activities:
Net income
Adjustments to reconcile net income to net cash provided by operating activities:
Depreciation and amortization expense
Amortization of unit-based compensation
Amortization of debt related items
Impairment loss
Changes in current assets and current liabilities (Note 11)
Decrease in other long-term assets
Decrease in other long-term liabilities
Other, net
Net cash provided by operating activities
Cash Flows from Investing Activities:
Capital expenditures
Change in accounts payable related to capital expenditures
Proceeds from insurance recoveries
Proceeds from sale or disposition of assets
Net cash used in investing activities
Cash Flows from Financing Activities:
Proceeds from long-term debt borrowings
Long-term debt repayments
Distributions to preferred unitholders
Distributions to common unitholders
Other, net
Net cash used in financing activities
Effect of foreign exchange rate changes on cash
Net increase (decrease) in cash, cash equivalents and restricted cash
Cash, cash equivalents and restricted cash as of the beginning of the period

$

$

Cash, cash equivalents and restricted cash as of the end of the period
See Condensed Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements.
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12,312

$

42,257

65,127
3,412
2,532
46,122
17,512
3,644
(662)
(4,169)
145,830

70,465
3,871
3,042
—
24,397
2,381
(1,678)
922
145,657

(32,750)
(14,498)
5,805
341
(41,102)

(40,463)
(5,449)
—
130
(45,782)

253,000
(268,800)
(31,025)
(44,041)
(8,848)
(99,714)
176
5,190
14,439
19,629 $

270,400
(418,100)
(31,887)
(43,811)
(2,331)
(225,729)
475
(125,379)
162,426
37,047
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NUSTAR ENERGY L.P. AND SUBSIDIARIES
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF PARTNERS’ EQUITY AND MEZZANINE EQUITY
Three Months Ended March 31, 2022 and 2021
(Unaudited, Thousands of Dollars, Except Per Unit Data)
Limited Partners

Preferred

Balance as of January 1, 2022
Net income (loss)
Other comprehensive income
Distributions to partners:
Series A, B and C preferred
Common ($0.40 per unit)
Series D preferred
Unit-based compensation
Series D preferred unit accretion
Other

$

Balance as of March 31, 2022

$

Balance as of January 1, 2021
Net income
Other comprehensive income
Distributions to partners:
Series A, B and C preferred
Common ($0.40 per unit)
Series D preferred
Unit-based compensation
Series D Preferred Unit accretion
Other

$

Balance as of March 31, 2021

$

756,301
15,238
—

Mezzanine Equity
Accumulated
Other
Comprehensive
Loss

Common

Total Partners’
Equity
(Note 9)

Series D Preferred
Limited Partners
(Note 8)

Total

$

299,502 $
(18,780)
—

(73,978) $
—
932

981,825 $
(3,542)
932

616,439
15,854
—

$

1,598,264
12,312
932

(15,238)
—
—
—
—
—
756,301 $

—
(44,041)
—
6,910
(4,581)
—
239,010 $

—
—
—
—
—
—
(73,046) $

(15,238)
(44,041)
—
6,910
(4,581)
—
922,265 $

—
—
(15,854)
—
4,581
(2)
621,018 $

(15,238)
(44,041)
(15,854)
6,910
—
(2)
1,543,283

756,301
16,033
—

572,314
10,370
—

$

(96,656) $
—
2,120

1,231,959
26,403
2,120

599,542
15,854
—

$

1,831,501
42,257
2,120

—
(43,811)
—
2,678
(4,021)
7
537,537 $

—
—
—
—
—
—
(94,536) $

(16,033)
(43,811)
—
2,678
(4,021)
7
1,199,302 $

—
—
(15,854)
—
4,021
—
603,563 $

(16,033)
(43,811)
(15,854)
2,678
—
7
1,802,865

$

(16,033)
—
—
—
—
—
756,301 $

See Condensed Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements.
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NUSTAR ENERGY L.P. AND SUBSIDIARIES
CONDENSED NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
1. ORGANIZATION AND BASIS OF PRESENTATION
Organization and Operations
NuStar Energy L.P. (NYSE: NS) is a Delaware limited partnership primarily engaged in the transportation, terminalling and storage of petroleum products
and renewable fuels and the transportation of anhydrous ammonia. Unless otherwise indicated, the terms “NuStar Energy,” “NS,” “the Partnership,” “we,”
“our” and “us” are used in this report to refer to NuStar Energy L.P., to one or more of our consolidated subsidiaries or to all of them taken as a whole. Our
business is managed under the direction of the board of directors of NuStar GP, LLC, the general partner of our general partner, Riverwalk Logistics, L.P.,
both of which are indirectly wholly owned subsidiaries of ours.
We conduct our operations through our subsidiaries, primarily NuStar Logistics, L.P. (NuStar Logistics) and NuStar Pipeline Operating Partnership L.P.
(NuPOP). We have three business segments: pipeline, storage and fuels marketing.
Recent Developments
Sale of Point Tupper Terminal. On April 29, 2022, we sold the equity interests in our wholly owned subsidiaries that own our Point Tupper terminal facility
to EverWind Fuels for $60.0 million, plus working capital, which is subject to adjustment. The terminal facility has a storage capacity of 7.8 million barrels
and has been included in the storage segment. We recognized a pre-tax impairment loss of $46.1 million in the first quarter of 2022 and expect to utilize the
sales proceeds to reduce debt and thereby improve our debt metrics. Please refer to Note 3 for more information.
Debt Amendments. On January 28, 2022, we amended and restated our $1.0 billion unsecured revolving credit agreement to extend the maturity to
April 27, 2025, replace the LIBOR-based interest rate and modify other terms. Also on January 28, 2022, we amended our $100.0 million receivables
financing agreement to extend the scheduled termination date to January 31, 2025, replace the LIBOR-based interest rate and modify other terms. Please
refer to Note 5 for more information.
Other Event
Selby Terminal Fire. On October 15, 2019, our terminal facility in Selby, California experienced a fire that destroyed two storage tanks and temporarily
shut down the terminal. We received insurance proceeds of $5.8 million and $20.5 million for the three months ended March 31, 2022 and 2021,
respectively. We recorded a gain from business interruption insurance of $4.0 million for the three months ended March 31, 2021, which is included in
“Operating expenses” in the condensed consolidated statements of comprehensive income. Insurance proceeds for cleanup costs and business interruption
are included in “Cash flows from operating activities” in the consolidated statements of cash flows. We believe we have adequate insurance to offset
additional costs.
Basis of Presentation
These unaudited condensed consolidated financial statements include the accounts of the Partnership and subsidiaries in which the Partnership has a
controlling interest. Inter-partnership balances and transactions have been eliminated in consolidation.
These unaudited condensed consolidated financial statements have been prepared in accordance with U.S. generally accepted accounting principles
(GAAP) for interim financial information and with the instructions to the Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q and Article 10 of Regulation S-X of the
Securities Exchange Act of 1934. Accordingly, they do not include all of the information and notes required by GAAP for complete consolidated financial
statements. In the opinion of management, all adjustments considered necessary for a fair presentation have been included, and all disclosures are adequate.
All such adjustments are of a normal recurring nature unless disclosed otherwise. Operating results for the three months ended March 31, 2022 are not
necessarily indicative of the results that may be expected for the year ending December 31, 2022. These unaudited condensed consolidated financial
statements should be read in conjunction with the audited consolidated financial statements and notes thereto included in our Annual Report on Form 10-K
for the year ended December 31, 2021.
We have reclassified certain previously reported amounts in the consolidated financial statements and notes to conform to current-period presentation.
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NUSTAR ENERGY L.P. AND SUBSIDIARIES
CONDENSED NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS – (Continued)
2. NEW ACCOUNTING PRONOUNCEMENT
Accounting for Convertible Instruments and Contracts in an Entity’s Own Equity
In August 2020, the Financial Accounting Standards Board (FASB) issued guidance intended to simplify the accounting for convertible instruments by
eliminating certain accounting models for convertible debt instruments and convertible preferred stock, requiring the calculation of diluted earnings per unit
to include the effect of potential unit settlement for any convertible instruments that may be settled in either cash or units, and amending the disclosure
requirements for convertible instruments. The guidance is effective for annual periods beginning after December 15, 2021. Amendments may be applied
using either a modified retrospective approach or a fully retrospective approach. We adopted the amended guidance on January 1, 2022 using the modified
retrospective approach. While the amended guidance did not have a material impact on our financial position, results of operations, or disclosures at
adoption, changes to the earnings per unit guidance could result in changes to our diluted net income (loss) per common unit. Please refer to Note 10 for
additional information.
Reference Rate Reform
In March 2020, the FASB issued guidance intended to provide relief to companies impacted by reference rate reform. The amended guidance provides
optional expedients and exceptions for applying GAAP to contracts, hedging relationships and other transactions affected by reference rate reform if certain
criteria are met. The publication of U.S. dollar LIBOR rates for the most common tenors is expected to cease after publication on June 30, 2023, and,
pursuant to the Adjustable Interest Rate (LIBOR) Act signed into law in the U.S. on March 15, 2022, the Board of Governors of the Federal Reserve
System has been directed to select a benchmark replacement rate to automatically replace LIBOR in LIBOR-based contracts that lack adequate fallback
provisions upon cessation. As of March 31, 2022, $402.5 million of our variable-rate debt uses LIBOR as a benchmark for establishing the interest rate. In
addition, the distribution rate on our 8.50% Series A Fixed-to-Floating Rate Cumulative Redeemable Perpetual Preferred Units is a floating rate based on
LIBOR, and the distribution rates on our 7.625% Series B and 9.00% Series C Fixed-to-Floating Rate Cumulative Redeemable Perpetual Preferred Units
convert from fixed rates to floating rates based on LIBOR in June 2022 and December 2022, respectively. The FASB’s guidance is effective as of March
12, 2020 through December 31, 2022. We adopted the guidance on a prospective basis. The guidance did not have an impact on our financial position,
results of operations or disclosures at transition, but we will continue to evaluate its impact on contracts modified on or before December 31, 2022.
3. DISPOSITION AND IMPAIRMENT
Sale of Point Tupper Terminal. On February 11, 2022, we entered into an agreement to sell the equity interests in our wholly owned subsidiaries that own
our Point Tupper terminal facility in Nova Scotia, Canada (the Point Tupper Terminal Operations) to EverWind Fuels for $60.0 million, plus working
capital, which is subject to adjustment. The terminal facility has a storage capacity of 7.8 million barrels and has been included in the storage segment. We
completed the sale on April 29, 2022 and expect to utilize the sales proceeds to reduce debt and thereby improve our debt metrics as part of our strategic
plan to strengthen our balance sheet. We compared the carrying value of the Point Tupper Terminal Operations, which includes $42.2 million in cumulative
foreign currency translation losses accumulated since our acquisition of the Point Tupper terminal facility in 2005, to its fair value less costs to sell, and we
recognized a pre-tax impairment loss of $46.1 million in the first quarter of 2022, which is presented in "Impairment loss" on the consolidated statement of
comprehensive income. We believe that the sales price of $60.0 million provides a reasonable indication of the fair value of the Point Tupper Terminal
Operations as it represents an exit price in an orderly transaction between market participants. The sales price is a quoted price for identical assets and
liabilities in a market that is not active and, thus, our fair value estimate falls within Level 2 of the fair value hierarchy.
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NUSTAR ENERGY L.P. AND SUBSIDIARIES
CONDENSED NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS – (Continued)
During the first quarter of 2022, we determined the Point Tupper Terminal Operations met the criteria to be classified as held for sale. Accordingly, the
consolidated balance sheet reflects the assets and liabilities of the Point Tupper Terminal Operations as held for sale as of March 31, 2022. The following
table provides the carrying amounts of the major classes of assets and liabilities included in “Assets held for sale” and “Liabilities held for sale” on the
consolidated balance sheet:
March 31, 2022
(Thousands of Dollars)

Cash
Accounts receivable
Inventories
Prepaid and other current assets
Property, plant and equipment, net of accumulated depreciation and impairment loss
Other long-term assets, net

$

2,429
1,138
399
1,792
65,716
14,984
86,458

$

Assets held for sale
Accounts payable
Deferred income tax liability
Accrued liabilities
Other long-term liabilities
Impairment reserve (cumulative translation losses)

$

2,636
7,638
4,355
9,640
42,227
66,496

$

Liabilities held for sale
4. REVENUE FROM CONTRACTS WITH CUSTOMERS
Contract Assets and Contract Liabilities
The following table provides information about contract assets and contract liabilities from contracts with customers:
2022
Contract Assets

Balances as of January 1:
Current portion
Noncurrent portion
Total

$

Activity:
Additions
Transfer to accounts receivable
Transfer to revenues
Total

Total

2,336
504
2,840

$

71
(2,037)
(83)
(2,049)

Balances as of March 31:
Current portion
Noncurrent portion
Held for sale
$

2021
Contract Liabilities
Contract Assets
(Thousands of Dollars)

277
448
66
791

9

(15,443) $
(46,027)
(61,470)

(9,645)
—
12,117
2,472

$

(13,454)
(45,544)
—
(58,998) $

2,694
932
3,626

Contract Liabilities

$

(22,019)
(47,537)
(69,556)

92
(1,990)
(125)
(2,023)

(9,658)
—
15,877
6,219

733
870
—
1,603

(16,524)
(46,813)
—
(63,337)

$
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NUSTAR ENERGY L.P. AND SUBSIDIARIES
CONDENSED NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS – (Continued)

Remaining Performance Obligations
The following table presents our estimated revenue from contracts with customers for remaining performance obligations that has not yet been recognized,
representing our contractually committed revenue as of March 31, 2022 (in thousands of dollars):
2022 (remaining)
2023
2024
2025
2026
Thereafter

$

315,545
283,526
189,426
132,497
90,396
93,490
1,104,880

$

Total

Our contractually committed revenue, for purposes of the tabular presentation above, is limited to customer service contracts that have fixed pricing and
fixed volume terms and conditions. The revenue shown above includes $19.2 million relating to our Point Tupper Terminal Operations that was held for
sale as of March 31, 2022.
Disaggregation of Revenues
The following table disaggregates our revenues:
Three Months Ended March 31,
2022
2021
(Thousands of Dollars)

Pipeline segment:
Crude oil pipelines
Refined products and ammonia pipelines
Total pipeline segment revenues from contracts with customers

$

Storage segment:
Throughput terminals
Storage terminals (excluding lessor revenues)
Total storage segment revenues from contracts with customers
Lessor revenues
Total storage segment revenues
Fuels marketing segment:
Revenues from contracts with customers
Consolidation and intersegment eliminations
$

Total revenues

86,124
102,559
188,683

$

74,588
94,640
169,228

26,441
50,719
77,160
10,761
87,921

24,794
73,416
98,210
10,364
108,574

133,260

83,855

(1)

(11)

409,863

$

361,646

5. DEBT
Revolving Credit Agreement
On January 28, 2022, NuStar Logistics amended and restated its $1.0 billion unsecured revolving credit agreement (the Revolving Credit Agreement) to,
among other things: (i) extend the maturity date from October 27, 2023 to April 27, 2025; (ii) increase the maximum amount of letters of credit capable of
being issued from $400.0 million to $500.0 million; (iii) replace LIBOR benchmark provisions with customary secured overnight financing rate, or SOFR,
benchmark provisions; (iv) remove the 0.50x increase permitted in our consolidated debt coverage ratio for certain rolling periods in which an acquisition
for aggregate net consideration of at least $50.0 million occurs; and (v) add baskets and exceptions to certain negative covenants.
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NUSTAR ENERGY L.P. AND SUBSIDIARIES
CONDENSED NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS – (Continued)
As of March 31, 2022, we had $106.5 million of borrowings outstanding and $888.7 million available for borrowing under the Revolving Credit
Agreement. Letters of credit issued under the Revolving Credit Agreement totaled $4.8 million as of March 31, 2022 and limit the amount we can borrow
under the Revolving Credit Agreement. Obligations under the Revolving Credit Agreement are guaranteed by NuStar Energy and NuPOP. The Revolving
Credit Agreement provides for U.S. dollar borrowings, which bear interest, at our option, based on an alternative base rate or a SOFR-based rate. The
Revolving Credit Agreement and certain fees under the Receivables Financing Agreement, defined below, are the only debt arrangements with interest
rates that are subject to adjustment if our debt rating is downgraded (or upgraded) by certain credit rating agencies. As of March 31, 2022, our weightedaverage interest rate related to borrowings under the Revolving Credit Agreement was 3.0%.
The Revolving Credit Agreement is subject to maximum consolidated debt coverage ratio and minimum consolidated interest coverage ratio requirements,
which may limit the amount we can borrow to an amount that is less than the total amount available for borrowing. For a rolling period of four quarters, the
consolidated debt coverage ratio (as defined in the Revolving Credit Agreement) cannot exceed 5.00-to-1.00, and the consolidated interest coverage ratio
(as defined in the Revolving Credit Agreement) must not be less than 1.75-to-1.00. As of March 31, 2022, we believe that we are in compliance with the
covenants in the Revolving Credit Agreement.
Receivables Financing Agreement
NuStar Energy and NuStar Finance LLC (NuStar Finance), a special purpose entity and wholly owned subsidiary of NuStar Energy, are parties to a $100.0
million receivables financing agreement with a third-party lender, with a scheduled termination date of January 31, 2025, (the Receivables Financing
Agreement) and agreements with certain of NuStar Energy’s wholly owned subsidiaries (collectively with the Receivables Financing Agreement, the
Securitization Program). NuStar Energy provides a performance guarantee in connection with the Securitization Program. Under the Securitization
Program, certain of NuStar Energy’s wholly owned subsidiaries sell their accounts receivable to NuStar Finance on an ongoing basis, and NuStar Finance
provides the newly acquired accounts receivable as collateral for its revolving borrowings under the Receivables Financing Agreement. NuStar Finance is a
separate legal entity and the assets of NuStar Finance, including these accounts receivable, are not available to satisfy the claims of creditors of NuStar
Energy, its subsidiaries selling receivables under the Securitization Program or their affiliates. The amount available for borrowing is based on the
availability of eligible receivables and other customary factors and conditions. On January 28, 2022, the Receivables Financing Agreement was amended
to, among other things: (i) extend the scheduled termination date from September 20, 2023 to January 31, 2025; (ii) reduce the floor rate in the calculation
of our borrowing rates; and (iii) replace provisions related to the LIBOR rate of interest with references to SOFR rates of interest.
Borrowings under the Receivables Financing Agreement bear interest, at NuStar Finance’s option, at a base rate or a SOFR rate, each as defined in the
Receivables Financing Agreement. As of March 31, 2022, the amount of borrowings outstanding under the Receivables Financing Agreement totaled
$72.0 million, the weighted-average interest rate related to outstanding borrowings was 1.9% and $132.2 million of our accounts receivable was included in
the Securitization Program.
Fair Value of Long-Term Debt
The estimated fair values and carrying amounts of long-term debt, excluding finance leases, were as follows:
March 31, 2022
December 31, 2021
(Thousands of Dollars)

Fair value
Carrying amount

$
$

3,222,517
3,115,915

$
$

3,459,153
3,130,625

We have estimated the fair value of our publicly traded notes based upon quoted prices in active markets; therefore, we determined that the fair value of our
publicly traded notes falls in Level 1 of the fair value hierarchy. With regard to our other debt, for which a quoted market price is not available, we have
estimated the fair value using a discounted cash flow analysis using current incremental borrowing rates for similar types of borrowing arrangements and
determined that the fair value falls in Level 2 of the fair value hierarchy. The carrying amount includes net fair value adjustments, unamortized discounts
and unamortized debt issuance costs.
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NUSTAR ENERGY L.P. AND SUBSIDIARIES
CONDENSED NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS – (Continued)
6. COMMITMENTS, CONTINGENCIES AND UNCERTAINTIES
We have contingent liabilities resulting from various litigation, claims and commitments. We record accruals for loss contingencies when losses are
considered probable and can be reasonably estimated. Legal fees associated with defending the Partnership in legal matters are expensed as incurred. We
accrued $0.9 million and $0.1 million for contingent losses as of March 31, 2022 and December 31, 2021, respectively. The amount that will ultimately be
paid related to such matters may differ from the recorded accruals, and the timing of such payments is uncertain. We evaluate each contingent loss at least
quarterly, and more frequently as each matter progresses and develops over time, and we do not believe that the resolution of any particular claim or
proceeding, or all matters in the aggregate, would have a material adverse effect on our results of operations, financial position or liquidity.
COVID-19. Ongoing uncertainty surrounding the COVID-19 pandemic has caused and may continue to cause volatility and could have a significant impact
on management’s estimates and assumptions in 2022 and beyond.
7. DERIVATIVES
We utilize various derivative instruments to manage our exposure to interest rate risk and commodity price risk. Our risk management policies and
procedures are designed to monitor interest rates, futures and swap positions and over-the-counter positions, as well as physical commodity volumes,
grades, locations and delivery schedules, to help ensure that our hedging activities address our market risks. Derivative financial instruments associated
with commodity price risk with respect to our petroleum product inventories and related firm commitments to purchase and/or sell such inventories were
not material for any periods presented.
We were a party to certain interest rate swap agreements to manage our exposure to changes in interest rates, which included forward-starting interest rate
swap agreements that qualified as cash flow hedges prior to their termination. We reclassify the mark-to-market adjustments related to these cash flows
hedges that were recorded in “Accumulated other comprehensive loss” (AOCI) into “Interest expense, net” as the underlying forecasted interest payments
occur or if the interest payments are probable not to occur. We reclassified losses on cash flow hedges to “Interest expense, net” of $0.5 million and
$1.3 million for the three months ended March 31, 2022 and 2021, respectively. As of March 31, 2022, we expect to reclassify a loss of $2.1 million to
“Interest expense, net” within the next twelve months associated with unwound forward-starting interest rate swaps.
8. SERIES D CUMULATIVE CONVERTIBLE PREFERRED UNITS
Distributions on the Series D Cumulative Convertible Preferred Units (Series D Preferred Units) are payable out of any legally available funds, accrue and
are cumulative from the original issuance dates, and are payable on the 15th day (or next business day) of each of March, June, September and December,
to holders of record on the first business day of each payment month. The number of Series D Preferred Units issued and outstanding as of March 31, 2022
and December 31, 2021 totaled 23,246,650. The distribution rates on the Series D Preferred Units are as follows: (i) 9.75%, or $57.6 million, per annum
($0.619 per unit per distribution period) for the first two years (beginning with the September 17, 2018 distribution); (ii) 10.75%, or $63.4 million, per
annum ($0.682 per unit per distribution period) for years three through five; and (iii) the greater of 13.75%, or $81.1 million, per annum ($0.872 per unit
per distribution period) or the distribution per common unit thereafter. While the Series D Preferred Units are outstanding, the Partnership will be
prohibited from paying distributions on any junior securities, including the common units, unless full cumulative distributions on the Series D Preferred
Units (and any parity securities) have been, or contemporaneously are being, paid or set aside for payment through the most recent Series D Preferred Unit
distribution payment date. Any Series D Preferred Unit distributions in excess of $0.635 per unit may be paid, in the Partnership’s sole discretion, in
additional Series D Preferred Units, with the remainder paid in cash.
In April 2022, our board of directors declared distributions of $0.682 per Series D Preferred Unit to be paid on June 15, 2022.
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NUSTAR ENERGY L.P. AND SUBSIDIARIES
CONDENSED NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS – (Continued)
9. PARTNERS' EQUITY
Series A, B and C Preferred Units
We allocate net income to our 8.50% Series A, 7.625% Series B and 9.00% Series C Fixed-to-Floating Rate Cumulative Redeemable Perpetual Preferred
Units (collectively, the Series A, B and C Preferred Units) equal to the amount of distributions earned during the period. Distributions on our Series A, B
and C Preferred Units are payable out of any legally available funds, accrue and are cumulative from the original issuance dates, and are payable on the
15th day (or next business day) of each of March, June, September and December of each year to holders of record on the first business day of each
payment month.
Distribution information for our Series B and C Preferred Units is as follows:
Fixed Distribution Rate Per Unit
Per Quarter

Units

Fixed Distribution
Per Quarter
(Thousands of Dollars)

Floating Annual Rate (as a
Percentage of the $25.00
Liquidation Preference per Unit)

Date at Which Distribution
Rate Becomes Floating

Series B Preferred Units

$

0.47657

$

7,339

June 15, 2022

Series C Preferred Units

$

0.56250

$

3,881

December 15, 2022

Three-month LIBOR plus
5.643%
Three-month LIBOR plus
6.88%

The distribution rate on our Series A Preferred Units converted from a fixed rate to a floating rate of the three-month LIBOR plus 6.766% on December 15,
2021. Distribution information for our Series A Preferred Units is as follows:
Period

Distribution Rate per Unit

March 15, 2022 - June 14, 2022
December 15, 2021 - March 14, 2022

$
$

0.47817
0.43606

Total Distribution
(Thousands of Dollars)

$
$

4,332
3,951

In April 2022, our board of directors declared distributions with respect to the Series A, B and C Preferred Units to be paid on June 15, 2022.
Common Limited Partners
We make quarterly distributions to common unitholders of 100% of our “Available Cash,” generally defined as cash receipts less cash disbursements,
including distributions to our preferred units, and cash reserves established by the general partner, in its sole discretion. These quarterly distributions are
declared and paid within 45 days subsequent to each quarter-end. The common unitholders receive a distribution each quarter as determined by the board of
directors, subject to limitation by the distributions in arrears, if any, on our preferred units. In April 2022, our board of directors declared distributions with
respect to our common units for the quarter ended March 31, 2022.
The following table summarizes information about cash distributions to our common limited partners applicable to the period in which the distributions
were earned:
Cash Distributions
Per Unit

Quarter Ended

March 31, 2022
December 31, 2021

$
$

Total Cash
Distributions
(Thousands of Dollars)

0.40
0.40
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$
$

44,165
44,008

Record Date

May 9, 2022
February 8, 2022

Payment Date

May 13, 2022
February 14, 2022
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NUSTAR ENERGY L.P. AND SUBSIDIARIES
CONDENSED NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS – (Continued)

Accumulated Other Comprehensive Income (Loss)
The balance of and changes in the components included in AOCI were as follows:
Three Months Ended March 31,
Foreign
Currency
Translation

Balance as of January 1

$

Other comprehensive income
before reclassification
adjustments
Net gain on pension costs
reclassified into other income,
net
Net loss on cash flow hedges
reclassified into interest
expense, net
Other
Other comprehensive
income (loss)
Balance as of March 31

$

Cash Flow
Hedges

2022
Pension and Other
Postretirement
Benefits

(41,761) $

(36,486) $

4,269

829

—

—

—

—

—
—
829
(40,932) $

Foreign
Currency
Total
Translation
(Thousands of Dollars)

$

(73,978)

Total

(42,362) $

(42,150) $

(12,144) $

829

957

—

—

957

(420)

(420)

—

—

(187)

(187)

529
—

—
(6)

529
(6)

—
—

1,348
—

—
2

1,348
2

529
(35,957) $

(426)
3,843 $

932
(73,046)

$

Cash Flow
Hedges

2021
Pension and Other
Postretirement
Benefits

$

957
(41,405) $

1,348
(40,802) $

(185)
(12,329) $

(96,656)

2,120
(94,536)

10. NET INCOME (LOSS) PER COMMON UNIT
Basic net income (loss) per common unit is determined pursuant to the two-class method. Under this method, all earnings are allocated to our limited
partners and participating securities based on their respective rights to receive distributions earned during the period. Participating securities include
restricted units awarded under our long-term incentive plans. We compute basic net income (loss) per common unit by dividing net income (loss)
attributable to common units by the weighted-average number of common units outstanding during the period.
We compute diluted net income (loss) per common unit by dividing net income (loss) attributable to common units by the sum of (i) the weighted average
number of common units outstanding during the period and (ii) the effect of dilutive potential common units outstanding during the period. Dilutive
potential common units may include the Series D Preferred Units and contingently issuable performance unit awards.
The Series D Preferred Units contain certain unitholder conversion and redemption features, and we use the if-converted method to calculate the dilutive
effect of the conversion or redemption feature that is most advantageous to our Series D preferred unitholders. The effect of the assumed conversion or
redemption of the Series D Preferred Units outstanding was antidilutive for each of the three months ended March 31, 2022 and 2021; therefore, we did not
include such conversion in the computation of diluted net (loss) income per common unit.
Contingently issuable performance units are included as dilutive potential common units if it is probable that performance measures will be achieved,
unless to do so would be antidilutive.
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NUSTAR ENERGY L.P. AND SUBSIDIARIES
CONDENSED NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS – (Continued)
The following table details the calculation of basic and diluted net (loss) income per common unit:
Three Months Ended March 31,
2022
2021
(Thousands of Dollars, Except Unit and Per Unit
Data)

Net income
Distributions to preferred limited partners
Distributions to common limited partners
Distribution equivalent rights to restricted units
Distributions in excess of income

$

Distributions to common limited partners
Allocation of distributions in excess of income
Series D Preferred Unit accretion
Net (loss) income attributable to common units

$

$

$

Basic and diluted weighted-average common units outstanding

12,312 $
(31,092)
(44,165)
(633)
(63,578) $

42,257
(31,887)
(43,834)
(598)
(34,062)

44,165 $
(63,578)
(4,581)
(23,994) $

43,834
(34,062)
(4,021)
5,751

110,177,045

Basic and diluted net (loss) income per common unit

$

109,506,222

(0.22) $

0.05

11. SUPPLEMENTAL CASH FLOW INFORMATION
Changes in current assets and current liabilities were as follows:
Three Months Ended March 31,
2022
2021
(Thousands of Dollars)

Decrease (increase) in current assets:
Accounts receivable
Inventories
Other current assets
Increase (decrease) in current liabilities:
Accounts payable
Accrued interest payable
Accrued liabilities
Taxes other than income tax
Changes in current assets and current liabilities

$

$

(13,704) $
(3,062)
10,289

12,232
(6,471)
9,689

4,284
37,968
(14,178)
(4,085)
17,512 $

5,067
27,149
(19,082)
(4,187)
24,397

The above changes in current assets and current liabilities differ from changes between amounts reflected in the applicable consolidated balance sheets due
to:
• the change in the amount accrued for capital expenditures;
• the effect of foreign currency translation;
• the reclassification of certain assets and liabilities to “Assets held for sale” and “Liabilities held for sale” on the consolidated balance sheet (please
refer to Note 3 for additional discussion); and
• the effect of accrued compensation expense paid with fully vested common unit awards.
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NUSTAR ENERGY L.P. AND SUBSIDIARIES
CONDENSED NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS – (Continued)
Cash flows related to interest and income taxes were as follows:
Three Months Ended March 31,
2022
2021
(Thousands of Dollars)

Cash paid for interest, net of amount capitalized
Cash paid for income taxes, net of tax refunds received

$
$

9,320
185

$
$

24,737
554

As of March 31, 2022 and December 31, 2021, restricted cash, representing legally restricted funds that are unavailable for general use, is included in
"Other long-term assets, net" on the consolidated balance sheets. “Cash, cash equivalents and restricted cash” on the consolidated statements of cash flows
is included in the consolidated balance sheets as follows:
March 31, 2022
December 31, 2021
(Thousands of Dollars)

Cash and cash equivalents
Assets held for sale
Other long-term assets, net
Cash, cash equivalents and restricted cash

$

8,398

$

2,429
8,802
19,629

$

5,637

$

—
8,802
14,439

12. SEGMENT INFORMATION
Our reportable business segments consist of the pipeline, storage and fuels marketing segments. Our segments represent strategic business units that offer
different services and products. We evaluate the performance of each segment based on its respective operating income, before general and administrative
expenses and certain non-segmental depreciation and amortization expense. General and administrative expenses are not allocated to the operating
segments since those expenses relate primarily to the overall management at the entity level.
Results of operations for the reportable segments were as follows:
Three Months Ended March 31,
2022
2021
(Thousands of Dollars)

Revenues:
Pipeline
Storage
Fuels marketing
Consolidation and intersegment eliminations
Total revenues

$

$

Operating income (loss):
Pipeline
Storage
Fuels marketing
Total segment operating income
General and administrative expenses
Other depreciation and amortization expense
Total operating income

$

$

16

188,683 $
87,921
133,260
(1)
409,863 $

169,228
108,574
83,855
(11)
361,646

95,752 $
(14,975)
6,544
87,321
27,071
1,824
58,426 $

79,379
42,718
2,731
124,828
24,492
2,047
98,289
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NUSTAR ENERGY L.P. AND SUBSIDIARIES
CONDENSED NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS – (Continued)
Total assets by reportable segment were as follows:
March 31, 2022
December 31, 2021
(Thousands of Dollars)

Pipeline
Storage
Fuels marketing
Total segment assets
Other partnership assets
Total consolidated assets

$

$

17

3,405,703
1,518,082
66,006
4,989,791
140,134
5,129,925

$

$

3,441,272
1,537,037
41,562
5,019,871
136,461
5,156,332
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Item 2.

Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations

Unless otherwise indicated, the terms “NuStar Energy,” “NS,” “the Partnership,” “we,” “our” and “us” are used in this report to refer to NuStar Energy
L.P., to one or more of our consolidated subsidiaries or to all of them taken as a whole.
CAUTIONARY STATEMENT REGARDING FORWARD-LOOKING INFORMATION
In this Form 10-Q, we make certain forward-looking statements, such as statements regarding our plans, strategies, objectives, expectations, estimates,
predictions, projections, assumptions, intentions, resources and the future impact of the coronavirus, or COVID-19, the responses thereto, the RussiaUkraine conflict, economic activity and the actions by oil producing nations on our business. While these forward-looking statements, and any assumptions
upon which they are based, are made in good faith and reflect our current judgment regarding the direction of our business, actual results will almost
always vary, sometimes materially, from any estimates, predictions, projections, assumptions or other future performance suggested in this report. These
forward-looking statements can generally be identified by the words “anticipates,” “believes,” “expects,” “plans,” “intends,” “estimates,” “forecasts,”
“budgets,” “projects,” “will,” “could,” “should,” “may” and similar expressions. These statements reflect our current views with regard to future events and
are subject to various risks, uncertainties and assumptions, which may cause actual results to differ materially. Please read Item 1A. “Risk Factors”
contained in our Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2021, as well as additional information provided from time to time in our
subsequent filings with the Securities and Exchange Commission, for a discussion of certain of those risks, uncertainties and assumptions.
If one or more of these risks or uncertainties materialize, or if the underlying assumptions prove incorrect, our actual results may vary materially from those
described in any forward-looking statement. Other unknown or unpredictable factors could also have material adverse effects on our future results. Readers
are cautioned not to place undue reliance on this forward-looking information, which is as of the date of this Form 10-Q. We do not intend to update these
statements unless we are required by the securities laws to do so, and we undertake no obligation to publicly release the result of any revisions to any such
forward-looking statements that may be made to reflect events or circumstances after the date of this report or to reflect the occurrence of unanticipated
events.
Our Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations is presented in five sections:
• Overview, including Trends and Outlook
• Results of Operations
• Liquidity and Capital Resources
• Critical Accounting Policies
• New Accounting Pronouncements
OVERVIEW
NuStar Energy L.P. (NYSE: NS) is primarily engaged in the transportation, terminalling and storage of petroleum products and renewable fuels and the
transportation of anhydrous ammonia. Our business is managed under the direction of the board of directors of NuStar GP, LLC, the general partner of our
general partner, Riverwalk Logistics, L.P., both of which are indirectly wholly owned subsidiaries of ours.
Our operations consist of three reportable business segments: pipeline, storage and fuels marketing. As of March 31, 2022, our assets included 9,940 miles
of pipeline and 64 terminal and storage facilities, which provided approximately 57 million barrels of storage capacity. As described below, on April 29,
2022 we sold our Point Tupper terminal facility with a storage capacity of 7.8 million barrels. We conduct our operations through our subsidiaries,
primarily NuStar Logistics, L.P. (NuStar Logistics) and NuStar Pipeline Operating Partnership L.P. (NuPOP). We generate revenue primarily from:
•
•
•

tariffs for transportation through our pipelines;
fees for the use of our terminal and storage facilities and related ancillary services; and
sales of petroleum products.

The following factors affect the results of our operations:
•

economic factors and price volatility;

•

industry factors, such as changes in the prices of petroleum products that affect demand or production, or regulatory changes that could increase
costs or impose restrictions on operations;

•

factors that affect our customers and the markets they serve, such as utilization rates and maintenance turnaround schedules of our refining
company customers and drilling activity by our crude oil production customers;
18
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•

company-specific factors, such as facility integrity issues, maintenance requirements and outages that impact the throughput rates of our assets;
and

•

seasonal factors that affect the demand for products transported by and/or stored in our assets and the demand for products we sell.

Recent Developments
Sale of Point Tupper Terminal. On April 29, 2022, we sold the equity interests in our wholly owned subsidiaries that own our Point Tupper terminal facility
(the Point Tupper Terminal Operations) to EverWind Fuels for $60.0 million, plus working capital, which is subject to adjustment. The terminal facility has
a storage capacity of 7.8 million barrels and has been included in the storage segment. We recognized a non-cash pre-tax impairment loss of $46.1 million
in the first quarter of 2022 and expect to utilize the sales proceeds to reduce debt and thereby improve our debt metrics. Please refer to Note 3 of the
Condensed Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements in Item 1. “Financial Statements” for additional information.
Debt Amendments. On January 28, 2022, we amended and restated our $1.0 billion unsecured revolving credit agreement to extend the maturity to
April 27, 2025, replace the LIBOR-based interest rate and modify other terms. Also on January 28, 2022, we amended our $100.0 million receivables
financing agreement to extend the scheduled termination date to January 31, 2025, replace the LIBOR-based interest rate and modify other terms.
Other Events
Eastern U.S. Terminals Disposition. On October 8, 2021, we completed the sale of nine U.S. terminal and storage facilities, including all our North East
Terminals and one terminal in Florida (the Eastern U.S. Terminal Operations) to Sunoco LP for $250.0 million in cash (the Eastern U.S. Terminals
Disposition). The terminals had an aggregate storage capacity of 14.8 million barrels and were included in the storage segment. We utilized the proceeds
from the sale to reduce debt and improve our debt metrics.
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Trends and Outlook
While 2022 marks the third year of the COVID-19 pandemic in the U.S., we continue to see signs of stabilization and improvement, across the U.S. and in
NuStar’s footprint. U.S. refined product demand outlook has seen some sustained improvement, as COVID-19 vaccinations have continued to allow more
people go about normal day-to-day activities and traveling. However, variants may emerge that could significantly increase COVID-19 case counts, which
may further impact the overall demand recovery in 2022.
Since Russia’s military invasion of Ukraine in late February 2022, prices for a number of the commodities produced in those countries, including oil and
gas, rose sharply and have been volatile, on market concerns about worldwide supply constraints. The long-term impact of the ongoing Russia-Ukraine
conflict, along with the lingering impact of COVID-19, on the global and U.S. economy remains uncertain; however, at this time, we do not expect a
significant impact to our operations or financial position.
Although U.S. oil production has been slow to respond to the recent increase in crude oil prices due to a variety of factors, including supply chain
challenges, we expect sustained healthy U.S. shale production growth in 2022 from improving global demand as well as supply constraints from the
Russia-Ukraine conflict. We expect our Permian system volumes to see healthy growth in 2022. Refined product demand on NuStar’s pipeline systems
rebounded in 2021 to pre-pandemic levels or higher, and we expect our refined products pipeline systems to perform at or above 100% of our pre-pandemic
levels through 2022; however, if prices for motor fuels continue to rise and remain at those levels for a sustained period, consumer demand could fall,
which would reduce demand for the transportation and storage services we provide. So far this year, the sustained recovery in refined product demand has
increased U.S. refiners’ utilization and demand for crude oil, which has contributed to increased throughputs on certain of our crude oil pipelines, which we
expect to continue through 2022. In addition, we continue to expect to benefit from the growth of our renewable fuels distribution system on the West
Coast, where we expect to provide an increasing share of California’s renewable fuels as we complete our planned tank conversion projects.
The lingering impact of the COVID-19 pandemic continues to ripple through the U.S. economy, notably in the form of rising inflation and supply chain
issues, which affected certain industries and geographic areas to varying degrees during 2021; the Russia-Ukraine conflict seems to have only amplified
inflation and supply chain constraints so far in 2022. The U.S. Federal Reserve has raised interest rates and is expected to implement several more increases
in 2022, which will increase the cost of our variable-rate debt. In addition, the distribution rates of our Series A, B and C Preferred Units have converted, or
will convert in 2022, from fixed rates to floating rates that increase or decrease with prevailing interest rates. On the other hand, our ability to pass along
rate increases reflecting changes in producer and/or consumer price indices to our customers, under our tariffs and contracts, should counterbalance the
impact of inflation on our costs. We plan to continue to manage our operations with fiscal discipline and to evaluate our capital expenditures as we remain
committed to improving our debt metrics and strengthening our balance sheet. We expect to continue to fund all of our expenses, distribution requirements
and capital expenditures for the full-year 2022 using internally generated cash flows.
Our outlook for the partnership, both overall and for any of our segments, may change, as we base our expectations on our continuing evaluation of several
factors, many of which are outside our control. These factors include, but are not limited to, uncertainty surrounding the COVID-19 pandemic and the
Russia-Ukraine conflict; uncertainty surrounding future production decisions by the Organization of Petroleum Exporting Countries and other oilproducing nations (OPEC+); the state of the economy and the capital markets; changes to our customers’ refinery maintenance schedules and unplanned
refinery downtime; crude oil prices; the supply of and demand for petroleum products, renewable fuels and anhydrous ammonia; demand for our
transportation and storage services; the availability and costs of personnel, equipment, supplies and services essential to our operations; the ability to obtain
timely permitting approvals; and changes in laws and regulations affecting our operations.
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RESULTS OF OPERATIONS
Consolidated Results of Operations
Three Months Ended March 31, 2022 Compared to Three Months Ended March 31, 2021
Three Months Ended March 31,
2022
2021
Change
(Unaudited, Thousands of Dollars, Except Per Unit Data)

Statement of Income Data:
Revenues:
Service revenues
Product sales
Total revenues

$

265,305
144,558
409,863

$

271,883
89,763
361,646

$

Costs and expenses:
Costs associated with service revenues
Costs associated with product sales
Impairment loss
General and administrative expenses
Other depreciation and amortization expense
Total costs and expenses

149,705
126,715
46,122
27,071
1,824
351,437

155,705
81,113
—
24,492
2,047
263,357

Operating income
Interest expense, net
Other income, net
Income before income tax (benefit) expense
Income tax (benefit) expense
Net income

$

58,426
(49,818)
3,671
12,279
(33)
12,312 $

98,289
(54,918)
398
43,769
1,512
42,257 $

Basic and diluted net (loss) income per common unit

$

(0.22) $

0.05

(6,578)
54,795
48,217

(6,000)
45,602
46,122
2,579
(223)
88,080

$

(39,863)
5,100
3,273
(31,490)
(1,545)
(29,945)
(0.27)

Consolidated Overview. Net income decreased $29.9 million for the three months ended March 31, 2022, compared to the three months ended March 31,
2021, mainly due to a non-cash pre-tax impairment loss of $46.1 million recorded in the first quarter of 2022 related to our Point Tupper Terminal
Operations and lower operating income from our storage segment, excluding the impairment loss. These decreases were partially offset by higher operating
income from our pipeline segment.
Corporate Items. General and administrative expenses increased $2.6 million for the three months ended March 31, 2022, compared to the three months
ended March 31, 2021, mainly due to higher compensation costs.
Interest expense, net, decreased $5.1 million for the three months ended March 31, 2022, compared to the three months ended March 31, 2021, primarily
due to lower overall debt balances following the repayment of outstanding debt, partially with the proceeds from October 2021 and December 2020 asset
sales.
Other income, net increased $3.3 million for the three months ended March 31, 2022, compared to the three months ended March 31, 2021, primarily due
to foreign exchange rate fluctuations.
Pipeline Segment
As of March 31, 2022, our pipeline assets consist of 9,940 miles of pipeline with 33 terminals and 13.0 million barrels of storage capacity. Our Central
West System includes 3,205 miles of refined product pipelines and 2,235 miles of crude oil pipelines. In addition, our Central East System includes 2,500
miles of refined product pipelines, consisting of the East and North Pipelines, and a 2,000-mile ammonia pipeline (the Ammonia Pipeline). We charge
tariffs on a per barrel basis for transportation in our refined product and crude oil pipelines and on a per ton basis for transportation in the Ammonia
Pipeline. Other revenues include product sales of surplus pipeline loss allowance (PLA) volumes.
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Three Months Ended March 31, 2022 Compared to Three Months Ended March 31, 2021
Three Months Ended March 31,
2022

Pipeline Segment:
Crude oil pipelines throughput (barrels/day)
Refined products and ammonia pipelines throughput (barrels/day)
Total throughput (barrels/day)

2021

Change

(Thousands of Dollars, Except Barrels/Day Information)

1,309,085
563,248
1,872,333

Throughput and other revenues
Operating expenses
Depreciation and amortization expense
Segment operating income

$

$

188,683
48,103
44,828
95,752

1,101,327
508,726
1,610,053
$

$

169,228
45,055
44,794
79,379

207,758
54,522
262,280
$

$

19,455
3,048
34
16,373

Pipeline segment revenues increased $19.5 million and throughputs increased 262,280 barrels per day for the three months ended March 31, 2022,
compared to the three months ended March 31, 2021. The results for the first quarter of 2021 were negatively affected by Winter Storm Uri, which brought
snow and damaging ice and caused widespread power outages in Texas and surrounding states in February 2021, as well as the lingering effects from the
COVID-19 pandemic, as demand did not recover to pre-pandemic levels until the second quarter of 2021. Revenues and throughputs increased primarily
due to the following:
• an increase in revenues of $13.2 million and an increase in throughputs of 118,660 barrels per day on our Permian Crude System, mainly due to
the negative impacts on the first quarter of 2021 described above, as well as an increase of $4.9 million in sales of PLA volumes in the first quarter
of 2022 compared to the first quarter of 2021;
• an increase in revenues of $2.9 million and an increase in throughputs of 12,516 barrels per day on our North and East pipelines combined, due to
supply disruptions from the conversion of a Wyoming refinery, resulting in higher volumes on our East Pipeline and a rebound in demand in 2022,
compared to lower demand in 2021 due to the lingering impacts from COVID-19;
• an increase in revenues of $1.5 million and an increase in throughputs of 14,183 barrels per day on our McKee System pipelines, mainly due to the
negative impacts in the first quarter of 2021 described above;
• an increase in revenues of $1.4 million and an increase in throughputs of 15,090 barrels per day on our Three Rivers System, primarily due to an
increase in demand on our Nuevo Laredo and San Antonio pipelines;
• an increase in revenues of $1.1 million and an increase in throughputs of 13,899 barrels per day on our Houston Pipeline due to a new contract
with a customer that began at the end of March 2021; and
• although revenues remained comparable as a result of minimum volume commitments, throughputs increased 65,421 barrels per day on our
Corpus Christi Crude Pipeline System, mainly due to a rebound in demand.
These increases were partially offset by a decrease in revenues of $1.3 million on our Ardmore System, despite an increase in throughputs of 22,227 barrels
per day. Revenues decreased mainly due to the expiration of a customer contract at the end of the first quarter of 2021, while throughputs increased
primarily due to the negative impacts in the first quarter of 2021 described above.
Operating expenses increased $3.0 million for the three months ended March 31, 2022, compared to the three months ended March 31, 2021, mainly due to
an increase in power costs of $2.5 million, primarily due to higher throughputs.
Storage Segment
Our storage segment is comprised of our facilities that provide storage, handling and other services for refined products, crude oil, specialty chemicals,
renewable fuels and other liquids. As of March 31, 2022, we owned and operated 29 terminal and storage facilities in the U.S., one terminal in Nuevo
Laredo, Mexico and one terminal located in Point Tupper, Canada, with an aggregate storage capacity of 44.2 million barrels. Revenues for the storage
segment include fees for tank storage agreements, under which a customer agrees to pay for a certain amount of storage in a tank over a period of time
(storage terminal revenues), and throughput agreements, under which a customer pays a fee per barrel for volumes moved through our terminals
(throughput terminal revenues).
Sale of Point Tupper Terminal. In the first quarter of 2022, we recorded a non-cash pre-tax impairment loss of $46.1 million related to our Point Tupper
terminal facility, which was sold on April 29, 2022 for $60.0 million.
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Selby Terminal Fire. We recognized a gain from business interruption insurance of $4.0 million for the three months ended March 31, 2021, which is
included in “Operating expenses” in the condensed consolidated statements of comprehensive income and relates to a fire in October 2019 at our terminal
facility in Selby, California.
Three Months Ended March 31, 2022 Compared to Three Months Ended March 31, 2021
Three Months Ended March 31,
2022

Storage Segment:
Throughput (barrels/day)

2021

Change

(Thousands of Dollars, Except Barrels/Day Information)

Throughput terminal revenues
Storage terminal revenues
Total revenues
Operating expenses
Depreciation and amortization expense
Impairment loss
Segment operating (loss) income

$

$

395,803

400,302

26,441 $
61,480
87,921
38,299
18,475
46,122
(14,975) $

24,794
83,780
108,574
42,232
23,624
—
42,718

(4,499)
$

$

1,647
(22,300)
(20,653)
(3,933)
(5,149)
46,122
(57,693)

Throughput terminal revenues increased $1.6 million for the three months ended March 31, 2022, compared to the three months ended March 31, 2021,
primarily due to an increase in revenues of $1.4 million at our Corpus Christi North beach terminal.
Storage terminal revenues decreased $22.3 million for the three months ended March 31, 2022, compared to the three months ended March 31, 2021,
primarily due to the following:
• a decrease in revenues of $16.3 million due to the Eastern U.S. Terminals Disposition in October 2021; and
• a decrease in revenues of $5.5 million and $1.1 million at our St. James and Point Tupper terminals, respectively, mainly due to the expiration of
customer contracts.
Operating expenses decreased $3.9 million for the three months ended March 31, 2022, compared to the three months ended March 31, 2021, primarily due
to a decrease in operating expenses of $9.3 million due to the Eastern U.S. Terminals Disposition in October 2021. This decrease was partially offset by an
increase in maintenance and regulatory expense of $1.0 million in 2022 and a $4.0 million recovery in the first quarter of 2021 for business interruption
insurance related to the Selby terminal.
Depreciation and amortization expense decreased $5.1 million for the three months ended March 31, 2022, compared to the three months ended March 31,
2021, mainly due to the Eastern U.S. Terminals Disposition in October 2021.
Fuels Marketing Segment
The fuels marketing segment includes our bunkering operations in the Gulf Coast, as well as certain of our blending operations associated with our Central
East System. The results of operations for the fuels marketing segment depend largely on the margin between our costs and the sales prices of the products
we market. Therefore, the results of operations for this segment are more sensitive to changes in commodity prices compared to the operations of the
pipeline and storage segments. We enter into derivative contracts to attempt to mitigate the effects of commodity price fluctuations. The financial impacts
of the derivative financial instruments associated with commodity price risk were not material for any periods presented.
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Three Months Ended March 31, 2022 Compared to Three Months Ended March 31, 2021
Three Months Ended March 31,
2022

Fuels Marketing Segment:
Product sales
Cost of goods
Gross margin
Operating expenses
Segment operating income

2021

Change

(Thousands of Dollars)

$

$

133,260
126,123
7,137
593
6,544

$

$

83,855 $
82,403
1,452
(1,279)
2,731 $

49,405
43,720
5,685
1,872
3,813

Segment operating income increased $3.8 million for the three months ended March 31, 2022, compared to the three months ended March 31, 2021, mainly
due to higher gross margins from our bunkering operations. We received a credit loss recovery of $1.7 million in the first quarter of 2021, which is included
in “Operating expenses.”
LIQUIDITY AND CAPITAL RESOURCES
OVERVIEW
Our primary cash requirements are for distributions to our partners, debt service, capital expenditures and operating expenses. Our partnership agreement
requires that we distribute all “Available Cash” to our common limited partners each quarter. “Available Cash” is defined in the partnership agreement
generally as cash on hand at the end of the quarter, plus certain permitted borrowings made subsequent to the end of the quarter, less cash reserves
determined by our board of directors, subject to requirements for distributions for our preferred units. We may maintain our distribution level with other
sources of Available Cash, as provided in our partnership agreement, including borrowings under our revolving credit agreement and proceeds from the
sales of assets.
Prior to 2021, we funded our strategic capital expenditures primarily from borrowings under our revolving credit agreement, funds raised through debt or
equity offerings and/or sales of non-strategic assets. However, our ability to raise funds by issuing debt or equity depends on many factors beyond our
control. Our risk factors in Item 1A. “Risk Factors” of our Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2021 describe the risks inherent
to these sources of funding and the availability thereof.
In the first quarter of 2022, we continued to prioritize liquidity by extending the maturity on our $1.0 billion revolving credit agreement to April 27, 2025,
extending the scheduled termination date on our $100.0 million receivables financing agreement to January 31, 2025 and entering an agreement to sell our
Point Tupper Terminal. For the full-year 2022, we expect to fund all of our expenses, distribution requirements and capital expenditures using internally
generated cash flows as we did for 2021.
Beyond 2022, absent a return of access to the equity capital markets, we plan to continue to fund our expenses, distribution requirements and capital
expenditures with internally generated cash flows, which could include proceeds from asset dispositions. We have no long-term debt maturities until 2025,
and we have been and expect to continue to be able to access debt capital markets to refinance those maturities. Our Series D Cumulative Convertible
Preferred Units (Series D Preferred Units) become redeemable, at our option, beginning in 2023, which coincides with an increase in the distribution rate of
those units. Beginning in 2028, the holders of the Series D Preferred Units have the option to require us to redeem their units, and we have begun taking
steps to position ourselves to redeem the Series D Preferred Units gradually over the next several years in advance of the possible mandatory redemption.
By reducing our leverage, primarily through the disposition of non-strategic assets in recent years, and continuing to increase the amount by which our
internally generated cash flows exceed our expenses, distribution requirements and capital expenditures, we are increasing our financial flexibility. Beyond
those items, we will also continue to evaluate other sources of liquidity to manage the optional or mandatory redemption of the Series D Preferred Units.
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CASH FLOWS FOR THE THREE MONTHS ENDED MARCH 31, 2022 AND 2021
The following table summarizes our cash flows from operating, investing and financing activities (please refer to our Consolidated Statements of Cash
Flows in Item 1. “Financial Statements”):
Three Months Ended March 31,
2022
2021
(Thousands of Dollars)

Net cash provided by (used in):
Operating activities
Investing activities
Financing activities
Effect of foreign exchange rate changes on cash
Net increase (decrease) in cash, cash equivalents and restricted cash

$

$

145,830 $
(41,102)
(99,714)
176
5,190 $

145,657
(45,782)
(225,729)
475
(125,379)

Net cash provided by operating activities was comparable for the three months ended March 31, 2022, compared to the three months ended March 31,
2021, as lower net income in the first quarter of 2022 was driven by a non-cash impairment loss and offset by changes in working capital.
Our working capital decreased $17.5 million for the three months ended March 31, 2022, compared to a decrease of $24.4 million for the three months
ended March 31, 2021. Working capital requirements are mainly affected by our accounts receivable and accounts payables balances, which vary
depending on the timing of payments. Cash flows from operating activities for the three months ended March 31, 2021 include $20.5 million related to
cleanup costs and business interruption for the 2019 Selby terminal fire. Additionally, the timing of payments related to accrued interest payable changed
due to the $250.0 million of 4.75% senior notes repaid on November 1, 2021 and the $300.0 million of 6.75% senior notes repaid February 1, 2021.
For the three months ended March 31, 2022, net cash provided by operating activities exceeded our distributions to unitholders and capital expenditures.
Net cash used in investing activities decreased by $4.7 million for the three months ended March 31, 2022, compared to the three months ended March 31,
2021, primarily due to proceeds from insurance recoveries of $5.8 million received in the first quarter of 2022.
Net cash used in financing activities decreased $126.0 million for the three months ended March 31, 2022, compared to the three months ended March 31,
2021, mainly due to a decrease in net debt repayments. For the three months ended March 31, 2022, we had net debt repayments of $15.8 million,
compared to $147.7 million in net debt repayments for the three months ended March 31, 2021.
SOURCES OF LIQUIDITY
Revolving Credit Agreement
On January 28, 2022, we amended and restated our unsecured $1.0 billion revolving credit agreement (the Revolving Credit Agreement) to, among other
things: (i) extend the maturity date from October 27, 2023 to April 27, 2025; (ii) increase the maximum amount of letters of credit capable of being issued
from $400.0 million to $500.0 million; (iii) replace LIBOR benchmark provisions with customary secured overnight financing rate, or SOFR, benchmark
provisions; (iv) remove the 0.50x increase permitted in our consolidated debt coverage ratio for certain rolling periods in which an acquisition for aggregate
net consideration of at least $50.0 million occurs; and (v) add baskets and exceptions to certain negative covenants.
The Revolving Credit Agreement is subject to maximum consolidated debt coverage ratio and minimum consolidated interest coverage ratio requirements,
which may limit the amount we can borrow to an amount that is less than the total amount available for borrowing. For a rolling period of four quarters, the
consolidated debt coverage ratio (as defined in the Revolving Credit Agreement) cannot exceed 5.00-to-1.00, and the consolidated interest coverage ratio
(as defined in the Revolving Credit Agreement) must not be less than 1.75-to-1.00. As of March 31, 2022, our consolidated debt coverage ratio was 3.92x
and our consolidated interest coverage ratio was 2.16x. As of March 31, 2022, we had $888.7 million available for borrowing. Letters of credit issued
under the Revolving Credit Agreement totaled $4.8 million as of March 31, 2022 and limit the amount we can borrow under the Revolving Credit
Agreement.
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Receivables Financing Agreement
NuStar Energy and NuStar Finance LLC (NuStar Finance), a special purpose entity and wholly owned subsidiary of NuStar Energy, are parties to a $100.0
million receivables financing agreement with a third-party lender (the Receivables Financing Agreement) and agreements with certain of NuStar Energy’s
wholly owned subsidiaries. As of March 31, 2022, $132.2 million of our accounts receivable was included in the Securitization Program and the amount of
borrowings outstanding under the Receivables Financing Agreement totaled $72.0 million. The amount available for borrowing under the Receivables
Financing Agreement is based on the availability of eligible receivables and other customary factors and conditions.
On January 28, 2022, the Receivables Financing Agreement was amended to, among other things: (i) extend the scheduled termination date from
September 20, 2023 to January 31, 2025; (ii) reduce the floor rate in the calculation of our borrowing rates; and (iii) replace provisions related to the
LIBOR rate of interest with references to SOFR rates of interest. Following the amendment, borrowings under the Receivables Financing Agreement bear
interest, at NuStar Finance’s option, at a base rate or a SOFR rate, each as defined in the Receivables Financing Agreement.
The interest rate on the Revolving Credit Agreement and certain fees under the Receivables Financing Agreement are the only debt arrangements that are
subject to adjustment if our debt rating is downgraded (or upgraded) by certain credit rating agencies. Please refer to Note 5 of the Condensed Notes to
Consolidated Financial Statements in Item 1. “Financial Statements” for further discussion of certain of our debt agreements.
Asset Sale
We expect to utilize the proceeds from the sale of our Point Tupper terminal to reduce debt and thereby improve our debt metrics. We closed the sale on
April 29, 2022.
MATERIAL CASH REQUIREMENTS
Capital Expenditures
Our operations require significant investments to maintain, upgrade or enhance the operating capacity of our existing assets. Our capital expenditures
consist of:
• strategic capital expenditures, such as those to expand or upgrade the operating capacity, increase efficiency or increase the earnings potential of
existing assets, whether through construction or acquisition, as well as certain capital expenditures related to support functions; and
• reliability capital expenditures, such as those required to maintain the current operating capacity of existing assets or extend their useful lives, as
well as those required to maintain equipment reliability and safety.
The following table summarizes our capital expenditures:
Reliability Capital
Expenditures
(Thousands of Dollars)

Strategic Capital Expenditures

Total

For the three months ended March 31:

2022
2021
Expected for the year ended December 31, 2022

$
$

26,041
31,974
$115,000 - 145,000

$
$

6,709
8,489

$
$

32,750
40,463

$35,000 - 45,000

Strategic capital expenditures for the three months ended March 31, 2022 and 2021 mainly consisted of expansion projects on our Permian Crude System
and Central West Refined Products Pipelines, as well as our West Coast bio-fuels terminal projects. Reliability capital expenditures for the three months
ended March 31, 2022 and 2021 primarily related to maintenance upgrade projects at our terminals.
We continue to evaluate our capital budget and internal growth projects can be accelerated or scaled back depending on market conditions or customer
demand. Therefore, our actual capital expenditures for 2022 may increase or decrease from the expected amounts noted above. We expect to self-fund all of
our capital expenditures in 2022.
Distributions
Preferred Units. Distributions on our preferred units are payable out of any legally available funds, accrue and are cumulative from the original issuance
dates, and are payable on the 15th day (or next business day) of each of March, June, September and December of each year to holders of record on the first
business day of each payment month.
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The following table provides the terms related to distributions for our Series B and Series C Fixed-to-Floating Rate Cumulative Redeemable Perpetual
Preferred Units (collectively, the Series B and C Preferred Units):
Fixed Distribution Rate Per
Annum (as a Percentage of
the $25.00 Liquidation
Preference Per Unit)

Units

Fixed Distribution
Rate Per Unit Per
Annum

Optional Redemption
Date/Date at Which
Distribution Rate Becomes
Floating

Fixed Distribution
Per Annum
(Thousands of
Dollars)

Series B Preferred Units

7.625% $

1.90625

$

29,357

June 15, 2022

Series C Preferred Units

9.00% $

2.25

$

15,525

December 15, 2022

Floating Annual Rate (as a
Percentage of the
$25.00 Liquidation
Preference Per Unit)

Three-month LIBOR plus
5.643%
Three-month LIBOR plus
6.88%

The distribution rate on our Series A Preferred Units converted from a fixed rate to a floating rate of the three-month LIBOR plus 6.766% on December 15,
2021. Distribution information for our Series A Preferred Units is as follows:
Period

Distribution Rate per Unit

March 15, 2022 - June 14, 2022
December 15, 2021 - March 14, 2022

$
$

0.47817
0.43606

Total Distribution
(Thousands of Dollars)

$
$

4,332
3,951

The distribution rates on the Series D Cumulative Convertible Preferred Units (Series D Preferred Units) are as follows: (i) 9.75%, or $57.6 million, per
annum ($0.619 per unit per distribution period) for the first two years (beginning with the September 17, 2018 distribution); (ii) 10.75%, or $63.4 million,
per annum ($0.682 per unit per distribution period) for years three through five; and (iii) the greater of 13.75%, or $81.1 million, per annum ($0.872 per
unit per distribution period) or the distribution per common unit thereafter. The number of Series D Preferred Units issued and outstanding as of March 31,
2022 and December 31, 2021 totaled 23,246,650. While the Series D Preferred Units are outstanding, the Partnership will be prohibited from paying
distributions on any junior securities, including the common units, unless full cumulative distributions on the Series D Preferred Units (and any parity
securities) have been, or contemporaneously are being, paid or set aside for payment through the most recent Series D Preferred Unit distribution payment
date. Any Series D Preferred Unit distributions in excess of $0.635 may be paid, in the Partnership’s sole discretion, in additional Series D Preferred Units,
with the remainder paid in cash.
In April 2022, our board of directors declared distributions with respect to the Series A, B and C Preferred Units and the Series D Preferred Units to be paid
on June 15, 2022.
Common Units. Distribution payments are made to our common limited partners within 45 days after the end of each quarter as of a record date that is set
after the end of each quarter. In April 2022, our board of directors declared distributions with respect to our common units for the quarter ended March 31,
2022. The following table summarizes information about quarterly cash distributions to our common limited partners applicable to the period in which the
distributions were earned:
Cash Distributions
Per Unit

Quarter Ended

March 31, 2022
December 31, 2021

$
$

Total Cash
Distributions
(Thousands of Dollars)

0.40
0.40
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$
$

44,165
44,008

Record Date

May 9, 2022
February 8, 2022

Payment Date

May 13, 2022
February 14, 2022
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Debt Obligations
The following table summarizes our debt obligations:
Maturity

Receivables Financing Agreement, 1.9% as of March 31, 2022
Revolving Credit Agreement, 3.0% as of March 31, 2022
5.75% senior notes
6.00% senior notes
5.625% senior notes
6.375% senior notes
GoZone Bonds 5.85% - 6.35%
Subordinated Notes, 7.0% as of March 31, 2022

January 31, 2025
April 27, 2025
October 1, 2025
June 1, 2026
April 28, 2027
October 1, 2030
2038 thru 2041
January 15, 2043

Outstanding Obligations as
of March 31, 2022
(Thousands of Dollars)

$
$
$
$
$
$
$
$

72,000
106,500
600,000
500,000
550,000
600,000
322,140
402,500

We believe that, as of March 31, 2022, we are in compliance with the ratios and covenants applicable to our debt obligations. A default under certain of our
debt obligations would be considered an event of default under other of our debt obligations. Please refer to Note 5 of the Condensed Notes to Consolidated
Financial Statements in Item 1. “Financial Statements” for a discussion of certain of our debt obligations.
Guarantor Summarized Financial Information. NuStar Energy has no operations, and its assets consist mainly of its 100% ownership interest in its
indirectly owned subsidiaries, NuStar Logistics and NuPOP. The senior and subordinated notes issued by NuStar Logistics are fully and unconditionally
guaranteed by NuStar Energy and NuPOP. Each guarantee of the senior notes by NuStar Energy and NuPOP ranks equally in right of payment with all
other existing and future unsecured senior indebtedness of that guarantor, is structurally subordinated to all existing and any future indebtedness and
obligations of any subsidiaries of that guarantor that do not guarantee the notes and ranks senior to its guarantee of our subordinated indebtedness. Each
guarantee of the subordinated notes by NuStar Energy and NuPOP ranks equal in right of payment with all other existing and future subordinated
indebtedness of that guarantor and subordinated in right of payment and upon liquidation to the prior payment in full of all other existing and future senior
indebtedness of that guarantor. NuPOP will be released from its guarantee when it no longer guarantees any obligations of NuStar Energy or any of its
subsidiaries, including NuStar Logistics, under any bank credit facility or public debt instrument. The rights of holders of our senior and subordinated notes
may be limited under the U.S. Bankruptcy Code or state fraudulent transfer or conveyance law. Please refer to Note 5 of the Condensed Notes to
Consolidated Financial Statements in Item 1. “Financial Statements” for a discussion of certain of our debt obligations.
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The following table presents summarized combined income statement and balance sheet information for NuStar Energy, NuStar Logistics and NuPOP
(collectively, the Guarantor Issuer Group). Intercompany items among the Guarantor Issuer Group have been eliminated in the summarized combined
financial information below, as well as intercompany balances and activity for the Guarantor Issuer Group with non-guarantor subsidiaries, including the
Guarantor Issuer Group’s investment balances in non-guarantor subsidiaries.
March 31, 2022

Summarized Combined Balance Sheet Information:
Current assets
Long-term assets
Current liabilities (a)
Long-term liabilities, including long-term debt
Series D preferred limited partners interests

$
$
$
$
$

December 31, 2021
(Thousands of Dollars)

27,791
2,770,973
147,145
3,158,526
621,018

$
$
$
$
$

33,645
2,791,481
119,841
3,162,351
616,439
Three Months Ended March 31,
2022
(Thousands of Dollars)

Summarized Combined Income Statement Information:
Revenues
Operating income
Interest expense, net
Net income

$
$
$
$

195,218
67,575
(49,877)
18,825

(a) Excludes $1,003.5 million and $1,004.5 million of net intercompany payables as of March 31, 2022 and December 31, 2021, respectively, due to the nonguarantor subsidiaries from the Guarantor Issuer Group.

Long-term assets for the non-guarantor subsidiaries totaled $2,087.2 million and $2,180.3 million as of March 31, 2022 and December 31, 2021,
respectively. Revenue and net loss for the non-guarantor subsidiaries totaled $214.6 million and $6.5 million, respectively, for the three months ended
March 31, 2022.
Series D Preferred Units Redemption Features
We may redeem all or any portion of the 23,246,650 Series D Preferred Units issued and outstanding in an amount not less than $50.0 million for cash at a
redemption price equal to, as applicable: (i) $31.73 per Series D Preferred Unit, or up to $737.6 million, at any time on or after June 29, 2023 but prior to
June 29, 2024; (ii) $30.46 per Series D Preferred Unit, or up to $708.1 million, at any time on or after June 29, 2024 but prior to June 29, 2025; (iii) $29.19
per Series D Preferred Unit, or up to $678.6 million, at any time on or after June 29, 2025; plus, in each case, the sum of any unpaid distributions on the
applicable Series D Preferred Unit plus the distributions prorated for the number of days elapsed (not to exceed 90) in the period of redemption (Series D
Partial Period Distributions). The holders have the option to convert the units prior to such redemption.
Additionally, at any time on or after June 29, 2028, each holder of Series D Preferred Units will have the right to require us to redeem all of the Series D
Preferred Units held by such holder at a redemption price equal to $29.19 per Series D Preferred Unit, or approximately $678.6 million if all Series D
Preferred Units are tendered, plus any unpaid Series D distributions plus the Series D Partial Period Distributions. If a holder of Series D Preferred Units
exercises its redemption right, we may elect to pay up to 50% of such amount in common units (which shall be valued at 93% of a volume-weighted
average trading price of the common units); provided, that the common units to be issued do not, in the aggregate, exceed 15% of NuStar Energy’s
common equity market capitalization at the time.
Environmental, Health and Safety
Our operations are subject to extensive international, federal, state and local environmental laws and regulations, in the U.S. and in the other countries in
which we operate, including those relating to the discharge of materials into the environment, waste management, remediation, the characteristics and
composition of fuels, climate change and greenhouse gases. Our operations are also subject to extensive health, safety and security laws and regulations,
including those relating to worker and pipeline safety, pipeline and storage tank integrity and operations security. Because more stringent environmental
and safety laws and regulations are continuously being enacted or proposed, the level of expenditures required for environmental, health and safety matters
is expected to increase in the future.
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Contingencies
We are subject to certain loss contingencies, and we believe that the resolution of any particular claim or proceeding, or all matters in the aggregate, would
not have a material adverse effect on our results of operations, financial position or liquidity, as further disclosed in Note 6 of the Condensed Notes to
Consolidated Financial Statements in Item 1. “Financial Statements.”
CRITICAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
The preparation of financial statements in accordance with U.S. generally accepted accounting principles requires management to make estimates and
assumptions related thereto that affect the amounts reported in the consolidated financial statements and accompanying notes. Actual results could differ
from those estimates. Our critical accounting policies are disclosed in our Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2021.
NEW ACCOUNTING PRONOUNCEMENTS
Please refer to Note 2 of the Condensed Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements in Item 1. “Financial Statements” for a discussion of new accounting
pronouncements.
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Item 3.

Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures About Market Risk

We manage our exposure to changing interest rates principally through the use of a combination of fixed-rate debt and variable-rate debt. Borrowings under
our variable-rate debt expose us to increases in interest rates.
On January 28, 2022, we amended and restated our $1.0 billion unsecured revolving credit agreement to extend the maturity to April 27, 2025, replace the
LIBOR-based interest rate and modify other terms. Also on January 28, 2022, we amended our $100.0 million receivables financing agreement to extend
the scheduled termination date to January 31, 2025, replace the LIBOR-based interest rate and modify other terms. Please refer to Note 5 of the Condensed
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements in Item 1. “Financial Statements” for more information.
The following tables present principal cash flows and related weighted-average interest rates by expected maturity dates for our long-term debt, excluding
finance leases:
March 31, 2022
Expected Maturity Dates
2022

Fixed-rate debt
Weighted-average
rate
Variable-rate debt
Weighted-average
rate

2023

2024

2025
2026
Thereafter
(Thousands of Dollars, Except Interest Rates)

$

—

$

—

$

—

$

600,000

$

—
—

$

—
—

$

—
—

$

5.8 %
178,500
$

—

—

—

$

2.6 %

500,000

$

6.0 %
—
$
—

1,472,140

Fair
Value

Total

$

6.0 %
402,500
$

2,572,140

$

2,641,192

6.0 %
581,000
$

—
581,325

7.0 %

5.6 %

—

December 31, 2021
Expected Maturity Dates
2022

Fixed-rate debt
Weighted-average
rate
Variable-rate debt
Weighted-average
rate

2023

2024

2025
2026
Thereafter
(Thousands of Dollars, Except Interest Rates)

$

—

$

—

$

—

$

$

—
—

$

—
194,300

$

—
—

$

—

2.5 %

—

600,000

$

500,000

$

5.8 %
—
$

6.0 %
—
$

—

—

1,472,140

$

6.0 %
402,500
$
6.9 %

Fair
Value

Total

2,572,140

$

2,858,794

6.0 %
596,800
$

—
600,359

5.4 %

—

Distributions on our 8.50% Series A, 7.625% Series B and 9.00% Series C Fixed-to-Floating Rate Cumulative Redeemable Perpetual Preferred Units
(collectively, the Series A, B and C Preferred Units) are payable out of any legally available funds, accrue and are cumulative from the original issuance
dates, and are payable on the 15th day (or the next business day) of each of March, June, September and December of each year to holders of record on the
first business day of each payment month. The Series A, B and C Preferred Units expose us to changes in interest rates as the distribution rate on our Series
A Preferred Units converted to a floating rate of the applicable LIBOR plus a spread on December 15, 2021, and the distribution rates on our Series B and
C Preferred Units convert from fixed rates to floating rates of the applicable LIBOR plus a spread on June 15, 2022 and December 15, 2022, respectively.
Based upon the 9,060,000 Series A Preferred Units outstanding at March 31, 2022 and the $25.00 liquidation preference per unit, an increase of 100 basis
points, or 1.0%, in interest rates would increase the annual distributions on our Series A Preferred Units by $2.3 million. Please see Note 9 of the
Condensed Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements in Item 1. “Financial Statements” for additional information on our Series A, B and C Preferred
Units.
Since the operations of our fuels marketing segment expose us to commodity price risk, we also use derivative instruments to attempt to mitigate the effects
of commodity price fluctuations. Derivative financial instruments associated with commodity price risk were not material for any periods presented.
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Item 4.
(a)

Controls and Procedures
Evaluation of disclosure controls and procedures.
Our management has evaluated, with the participation of the principal executive officer and principal financial officer of NuStar GP, LLC, the
effectiveness of our disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in Rule 13a-15(e) under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934) as of the end
of the period covered by this report, and has concluded that our disclosure controls and procedures were effective as of March 31, 2022.

(b)

Changes in internal control over financial reporting.
There has been no change in our internal control over financial reporting that occurred during our last fiscal quarter that has materially
affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, our internal control over financial reporting.
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PART II - OTHER INFORMATION

Item 6.

Exhibits

Exhibit
Number

Description

10.01

Second Amended and Restated 5-Year Revolving Credit Agreement, dated as of January 28, 2022, among NuStar Logistics,
L.P., NuStar Energy L.P., NuStar Pipeline Operating Partnership L.P., Wells Fargo Bank, National Association, as
Administrative Agent, and the lenders party thereto (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to NuStar Energy L.P.’s Current
Report on Form 8-K filed January 31, 2022 (File No. 001-16417))

10.02

Sixth Amendment to Receivables Financing Agreement, dated as of January 28, 2022, by and among NuStar Finance, LLC, as
Borrower, NuStar Energy L.P., as initial Servicer, and PNC Bank, National Association (incorporated by reference to Exhibit
10.2 to NuStar Energy L.P.’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed January 31, 2022 (File No. 001-16417))

*10.03
22.01

Form of 2022 Performance Cash Award Agreement under the Amended and Restated NuStar Energy L.P. 2019 Long-Term
Incentive Plan
Subsidiary Guarantors and Issuers of Guaranteed Securities (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 22.01 to NuStar Energy L.P.’s
Annual Report on Form 10-K for year ended December 31, 2021 (File No. 001-16417))

*31.01

Rule 13a-14(a) Certification (under Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002) of principal executive officer

*31.02

Rule 13a-14(a) Certification (under Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002) of principal financial officer

**32.01

Section 1350 Certification (under Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002) of principal executive officer

**32.02

Section 1350 Certification (under Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002) of principal financial officer

*101.INS

Inline XBRL Instance Document - The instance document does not appear in the Interactive Data File because its XBRL tags
are embedded within the Inline XBRL document.

*101.SCH

Inline XBRL Taxonomy Extension Schema Document

*101.CAL

Inline XBRL Taxonomy Extension Calculation Linkbase Document

*101.DEF

Inline XBRL Taxonomy Extension Definition Linkbase Document

*101.LAB

Inline XBRL Taxonomy Extension Label Linkbase Document

*101.PRE

Inline XBRL Taxonomy Extension Presentation Linkbase Document

*104
Cover Page Interactive Data File - Formatted in Inline XBRL and contained in Exhibit 101
* Filed herewith.
** Furnished herewith.
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SIGNATURES
Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the registrant has duly caused this report to be signed on its behalf by the
undersigned, thereunto duly authorized.
NUSTAR ENERGY L.P.
(Registrant)
By: Riverwalk Logistics, L.P., its general partner
By: NuStar GP, LLC, its general partner
By:

/s/ Bradley C. Barron
Bradley C. Barron
President and Chief Executive Officer
May 6, 2022

By:

/s/ Thomas R. Shoaf
Thomas R. Shoaf
Executive Vice President and Chief Financial Officer
May 6, 2022

By:

/s/ Jorge A. del Alamo
Jorge A. del Alamo
Senior Vice President and Controller
May 6, 2022
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Exhibit 10.03

PERFORMANCE CASH AWARD AGREEMENT
This Performance Cash Award Agreement (“Agreement”), effective as of April 28, 2022 (“Grant Date”), is between NuStar
Energy L.P. (the “Partnership”) and the recipient of this Agreement (“Participant”), a participant in the Amended and
Restated NuStar Energy L.P. 2019 Long-Term Incentive Plan, as the same may be amended (the “Plan”), pursuant to and
subject to the provisions of the Plan. All capitalized terms contained in this Agreement shall have the same definitions as are set
forth in the Plan unless otherwise defined herein. The terms governing this Award are set forth below. Certain provisions
applicable to this Agreement are set forth on Appendix A.
1.

Grant of Performance Cash. The Compensation Committee (the “Committee”) of the Board of Directors of NuStar GP,
LLC (the “Company”) hereby grants, pursuant to Section 6.3 of the Plan, to Participant the amount of Performance Cash
under the Plan communicated to Participant by Participant’s manager, which represents the target amount of Performance
Cash subject to this Agreement, which grant is subject to the terms and conditions of this Agreement and the Plan.
“Performance Cash” is an unfunded, unsecured contractual right which, upon vesting, entitles Participant to receive the
amount of Performance Cash subject to this Agreement.

2.

Performance Period. Except as provided below with respect to a Change of Control and as the Committee may provide
with respect to TUR (as defined in Section 4A), the performance period for any Performance Cash eligible to vest on any
given Vesting Date (as defined below) shall be the calendar year ending on the December 31 immediately preceding such
Vesting Date (each, a “Performance Period” and specifically, with respect to each of 2022, 2023 and 2024, the “Year 1
Performance Period,” the “Year 2 Performance Period,” and the “Year 3 Performance Period,” respectively).

3.

Vesting and Payment.
A.

Vesting. Except as otherwise provided in this Agreement, the Performance Cash granted hereunder shall be eligible to
vest, subject to Section 4, over a period of three years in equal, one-third increments (each increment, an “Annual
Tranche” and specifically, with respect to the applicable Performance Period for each of the periods ending on
December 31, 2022, 2023 and 2024, the “Year 1 Annual Tranche,” the “Year 2 Annual Tranche,” and the “Year 3
Annual Tranche,” respectively). Except as otherwise provided in this Agreement, the applicable portion, if any, of each
Annual Tranche shall vest on the date that the Committee certifies the attainment of the Performance Goals established
by the Committee (“Performance Measures”) for the applicable Performance Period in accordance with Section 4
following completion of the applicable Performance Period (each of these three vesting dates is referred to as a “Vesting
Date”). Except as provided below in Section 3C, Performance Cash subject to an Annual Tranche that does not vest as of
the Vesting Date for such Annual Tranche shall be automatically and immediately forfeited for no consideration. In no
event shall an amount of Performance Cash be greater than 200% of the amount of Performance Cash subject to this
Agreement vest under any circumstances.

B.

Payment. Except as provided otherwise in Section 6, any Performance Cash that vests pursuant to this Agreement shall
be paid as soon as reasonably practical after the applicable Vesting Date and in all events no later than March 15 of the
calendar year following the end of the applicable Performance Period. This Agreement and the Award evidenced hereby
are intended to comply with or otherwise be exempt from, and shall be administered consistently in all respects with,
Section 409A of the
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Code and the regulations promulgated thereunder and each payment hereunder shall be considered a separate payment
under Section 409A of the Code. If necessary in order to attempt to ensure such compliance, this Agreement may be
reformed, to the extent possible, unilaterally by the Partnership consistent with guidance issued by the Internal Revenue
Service. Notwithstanding anything to the contrary contained herein, the Committee, subject to applicable law, retains the
discretion to settle any amount of Performance Cash that vests pursuant to this Agreement by delivery of a number of
Units equal to such vested amount of Performance Cash based on the Fair Market Value of a Unit on such Vesting Date
(provided, however, that if settlement of any Annual Tranche in Units would result in delivery of a fractional Unit with
respect to such Annual Tranche, such fractional Unit shall be rounded to the nearest whole number such that no
fractional Units will be delivered hereunder). If the Committee elects to settle any amount of Performance Cash in Units,
Participant agrees that any Units to which Participant will be entitled in connection with the vesting, if any, of
Performance Cash under this Agreement may be in uncertificated form and recorded with the Partnership’s or its
Affiliates’ service provider.
C.

4.

Additional Vesting Opportunity for Carried Forward Amount. With respect to each Annual Tranche, any
Performance Cash that does not vest at least at the target level on the original Vesting Date for such Annual Tranche and
that would otherwise be forfeited pursuant to Section 3A (the “Carried Forward Amount”) shall not be forfeited
pursuant to Section 3A and shall again be eligible to vest on the Vesting Date for the immediately following Performance
Period. The portion of the Carried Forward Amount that vests, if at all, shall be based on the attainment of the
Performance Measures for such immediately following Performance Period; provided, however, that regardless of the
level of Performance Measures achieved for the immediately following Performance Period, no more than 100% of the
Carried Forward Amount shall be eligible to vest. Any Carried Forward Amount that does not vest on the Vesting Date
for the immediately following Performance Period shall be automatically and immediately forfeited for no consideration.

Performance Measures.
A.

Performance Cash Vesting for the Year 1 Performance Period. The amount of Performance Cash in the Year 1
Annual Tranche that will vest on the applicable Vesting Date shall be determined by multiplying (1) the average of the
DCR Vesting Percentage for the Year 1 Annual Tranche and the TUR Vesting Percentage for the Year 1 Annual Tranche
(each, as defined below) by (2) the amount of Performance Cash in the Year 1 Annual Tranche.
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I.

DCR Vesting Percentage for the Year 1 Annual Tranche. The DCR Vesting Percentage for the Year 1 Annual
Tranche shall be based on the distribution coverage ratio (“DCR”) achieved by the Partnership during the Year 1
Performance Period as follows:
Level
Threshold
Target
Exceeds Target
Maximum

DCR Vesting Percentage for Year 1
Annual Tranche
50%
100%
150%
200%

DCR
1.82 : 1
2.03 : 1
2.13 : 1
2.17 : 1

If the actual performance is between performance levels, the DCR Vesting Percentage will be interpolated on a
straight line basis for achievement between performance levels. Notwithstanding the foregoing, the Committee has
full discretion to apply a DCR Vesting Percentage between 0% and 200% to the Year 1 Annual Tranche.
II. TUR Vesting Percentage for the Year 1 Annual Tranche. The TUR Vesting Percentage for the Year 1 Annual
Tranche shall be based on the Partnership’s total unitholder return (“TUR”) relative to the TURs of the peer group
of companies set forth on Appendix B (the “Target Group”) for the period beginning on January 1, 2020 and
ending on December 31, 2022 (“Year 1 TUR Period”).
a.

Total Unitholder Return (TUR). The TUR for each company in the Target Group (including the Partnership) is
measured by dividing the sum of (i) the cash distributions on the common shares or common units of such
company during the Year 1 TUR Period, assuming cash distribution reinvestment and (ii) the difference between
the Closing Average Price as of the last day of the Year 1 TUR Period and the Closing Average Price for the
trading day immediately prior to the first day of the Year 1 TUR Period (appropriately adjusted for any share or
unit dividend, share or unit split, spin-off, merger or other similar corporate events) by (iii) the Closing Average
Price for the trading day immediately prior to the first day of the Year 1 TUR Period. For purposes of this
Agreement, the “Closing Average Price” shall be determined based on the average of the closing price of a
common share or common unit of such company for the twenty (20) consecutive trading days ending on (and
including) the applicable measurement date.

b. Performance Ranking. The TUR for the Year 1 TUR Period for the Partnership and each company in the Target
Group shall be arranged by rank from best to worst according to the TUR achieved by each company. The total
number of companies so ranked shall then be divided into four groups (“Quartiles” and each a “Quartile”). For
purposes of assigning companies to Quartiles (with the 1st Quartile being the best and the 4th Quartile being the
worst), the total number of companies ranked (including the Partnership) shall be divided into four groups as
nearly equal in number as possible. The number of companies in each group shall be the total number contained
in
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the Target Group divided by four. If the total number of companies is not evenly divisible by four, so that there is
a fraction contained in such quotient, the extra company(ies) represented by such fraction will be included in one
or more Quartiles as follows:
Fraction
¼
½

Extra Company(ies)
1st Quartile
1st Quartile
2nd Quartile
1st Quartile
2nd Quartile
3rd Quartile

¾

c.

Vesting Percentage. The TUR Vesting Percentage for the Year 1 Annual Tranche shall be determined based on
where the Partnership’s TUR during the Year 1 TUR Period falls within the following ranges:
Partnership TUR Position
4th Quartile

TUR Vesting Percentage for
Year 1 Annual Tranche
0%

3rd Quartile

50%

2nd Quartile

100%

1st Quartile

150%

If the Partnership’s TUR is the highest achieved in the 1st Quartile

200%

Notwithstanding the foregoing, the Committee has full discretion to apply a TUR Vesting Percentage between 0% and 200% to
the Year 1 Annual Tranche.
B.

Performance Cash Vesting for the Year 2 and Year 3 Performance Periods. The Committee will designate the
Performance Measures that will apply for the Year 2 Performance Period and the Year 3 Performance Period (the “Year 2
Performance Measures” and the “Year 3 Performance Measures,” respectively) during the applicable year. Within the
Committee’s discretion, the Year 2 Performance Measures and the Year 3 Performance Measures may result in the vesting
of greater than 100% (up to 200%) of the Year 2 Annual Tranche and the Year 3 Annual Tranche, respectively. The Year 2
Performance Measures and the Year 3 Performance Measures shall be applied to the Year 2 Annual Tranche and the Year
3 Annual Tranche, respectively, to determine the Performance Cash that vests with respect to the applicable Performance
Period. Notwithstanding the foregoing, the Committee has full discretion to vest between 0% and 200% of the applicable
Annual Tranche, regardless of the level of Performance Measures achieved for the applicable year.
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5.

6.

Termination of Employment.
A.

Voluntary Termination and Termination for Cause. Except for a Change of Control, if Participant’s employment is
voluntarily terminated by Participant (other than through Participant’s death), or is terminated by the Company, the
Partnership or any of their respective Affiliates for Cause, any Annual Tranche for a Performance Period not completed as
of the date of termination shall be automatically forfeited for no consideration; provided, however, that a Participant who
remains continuously employed with the Company, the Partnership or any of their respective Affiliates from the Grant
Date through the last day of a Performance Period will be entitled to the Performance Cash (i.e., the Performance Cash in
the Annual Tranche for such completed Performance Period in accordance with Section 4 and any Carried Forward
Amount from the immediately preceding Performance Period which is eligible to vest with respect to such completed
Performance Period), whether or not Participant remains employed by the Company, the Partnership or any of their
respective Affiliates until the Vesting Date applicable to the completed Performance Period.

B.

Death, Disability and Termination Other Than for Cause. Except for a Change of Control, if Participant experiences
a Disability (as defined below) or if Participant’s employment with the Company, the Partnership or any of their
respective Affiliates is terminated by the Company, the Partnership or such Affiliate other than for Cause (at a time when
Participant is otherwise willing and able to continue providing services) or as a result of Participant’s death (each, a
“Triggering Event”), and the then-current Performance Period will be completed in fewer than 30 days after such
Triggering Event, the Annual Tranche applicable to the then-current Performance Period (and any Carried Forward
Amount which is eligible to vest with respect to the then-current Performance Period) shall vest and be paid in accordance
with Sections 3 and 4 as if Participant had remained employed through the last day of the Performance Period. Any
Performance Cash (including any Carried Forward Amount) that fails to vest for the then-current Performance Period
after the application of the previous sentence, including any Performance Cash for any Performance Periods that would
otherwise have commenced following the Triggering Date, shall be automatically and immediately forfeited for no
consideration. Any Performance Cash that vests pursuant to this Section 5B shall be paid as soon as administratively
practicable after the Vesting Date for the then-current Performance Period and in all events no later than March 15 of the
calendar year following the end of the calendar year in which the applicable Triggering Event occurs. For purposes of this
Agreement, “Disabled” or “Disability” means (i) the inability of Participant to engage in any substantial gainful activity
by reason of any medically determinable physical or mental impairment that can be expected to result in death or can be
expected to last for a continuous period of not less than twelve (12) months or (ii) the receipt of income replacements by
Participant, by reason of any medically determinable physical or mental impairment that can be expected to result in death
or can be expected to last for a continuous period of not less than twelve (12) months, for a period of not less than three
(3) months under the accident and health plan of the Company, the Partnership or an applicable Affiliate thereof.

Change of Control. Upon a Change of Control, with respect to then-outstanding amount of Performance Cash, all applicable
Performance Measures will be deemed achieved at the maximum levels applicable to such Performance Cash and all such
Performance Cash shall automatically vest in full. Any Performance Cash that vests pursuant to this Section 6 shall be paid as
soon as administratively practicable after the Change of Control and in
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all events no later than March 15 of the calendar year following the end of the calendar year in which the Change of Control
occurs.
7.

Withholding. The Company, the Partnership or an applicable Affiliate will withhold any taxes due from Participant’s grant
as the Company, the Partnership or an applicable Affiliate determines is required by law, which, in the sole discretion of the
Committee, may include withholding cash or a number of Units that would otherwise be delivered in settlement thereof or
otherwise payable to Participant.

8.

Acceptance and Acknowledgement. Participant hereby accepts and agrees to be bound by all of the terms, provisions,
conditions and limitations of the Plan and any subsequent amendment or amendments thereto, as if it had been set forth
verbatim in this Award. Participant shall be deemed to have timely accepted this Agreement and the terms hereof if
Participant has not explicitly rejected this Agreement in writing to the Partnership within sixty (60) days after the Grant Date.
Participant hereby acknowledges receipt of a copy of the Plan, this Agreement and Appendix A. Participant has read and
understands the terms and provisions thereof, and accepts the Performance Cash subject to all of the terms and conditions of
the Plan and this Agreement. Participant acknowledges that there may be adverse tax consequences upon the vesting or
payment of the Performance Cash or disposition of any Units that may be delivered in settlement of the vesting of
Performance Cash and that Participant has been advised to consult a tax advisor prior to such vesting, payment or disposition.

9.

Plan and Appendix Incorporated by Reference. The Plan and Appendix A are incorporated into this Agreement by this
reference and are made a part hereof for all purposes; provided, however, that, in the event of a conflict between the Plan and
this Agreement or between the Plan and Appendix A, the Plan shall control.
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10.

Restrictions. This Agreement and Participant’s interest in the Performance Cash granted by this Agreement are of a
personal nature and, except as expressly provided in this Agreement or the Plan, Participant’s rights with respect thereto may
not be sold, mortgaged, pledged, assigned, alienated, transferred, conveyed or otherwise disposed of or encumbered in any
manner by Participant. Any such attempted sale, mortgage, pledge, assignment, alienation, transfer, conveyance, disposition
or encumbrance shall be void, and the Partnership and its Affiliates shall not be bound thereby.

NUSTAR ENERGY L.P.
By: Riverwalk Logistics, L.P., its general partner
By: NuStar GP, LLC, its general partner
By:
Bradley C. Barron
President & Chief Executive Officer

Page 7

APPENDIX A
1.

No Guarantee of Tax Consequences. None of the Board, the Company, the Partnership or any Affiliate of any of the
foregoing makes any commitment or guarantee that any federal, state, local or other tax treatment will (or will not) apply or
be available to Participant (or to any person claiming through or on behalf of Participant) or assumes any liability or
responsibility with respect to taxes and penalties and interest thereon arising hereunder with respect to Participant (or to any
person claiming through or on behalf of Participant).

2.

Successors and Assigns. The Partnership and its Affiliates may assign any of their respective rights under this Agreement
and it shall be binding and inure to the benefit of such successors and assigns. Subject to the restrictions on transfer set forth
herein, this Agreement will be binding upon Participant and Participant’s beneficiaries, executors, administrators and the
person(s) to whom the Performance Cash may be transferred by will or the laws of descent or distribution.

3.

Governing Law. The validity, construction and effect of this Agreement shall be determined by the laws of the State of
Delaware without regard to conflict of laws principles.

4.

No Rights as Unitholder. Neither Participant nor any person claiming by, through or under Participant with respect to the
Performance Cash shall have any rights as a unitholder of the Partnership (including, without limitation, voting rights) unless
and until the Performance Cash vests and is settled by the delivery of Units.

5.

Amendment. The Committee has the right to amend or alter this Agreement and/or the Performance Cash; provided, that no
such amendment shall adversely affect Participant’s material rights under this Agreement without Participant’s consent.

6.

No Right to Continued Service. Neither the Plan nor this Agreement shall confer upon Participant any right to be retained
in any position, as an Employee, Consultant or Director of the Company, the Partnership or any Affiliate thereof. Further,
nothing in the Plan or this Agreement shall be construed to limit the discretion of the Company, the Partnership or any
Affiliate thereof to terminate Participant’s service at any time, with or without Cause.

7.

Notices. Any notice required to be delivered to the Partnership under this Agreement shall be in writing and addressed to the
Secretary of the Company at the Company’s principal offices. Any notice required to be delivered to Participant under this
Agreement shall be in writing and addressed to Participant at Participant’s address as then shown in the records of the
Company, the Partnership or the applicable Affiliate. Any party hereto may designate another address in writing (or by such
other method approved by the Partnership) from time to time.
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8.

Interpretation. Any dispute regarding the interpretation of this Agreement shall be submitted by such party to the
Committee for review. The resolution of such dispute by the Committee shall be final and binding on the parties hereto.

9.

Severability. The invalidity or unenforceability of any provision of the Plan or this Agreement shall not affect the validity
or enforceability of any other provision of the Plan or this Agreement, and each provision of the Plan and this Agreement
shall be severable and enforceable to the extent permitted by law.
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APPENDIX B
Target Group
Crestwood Equity Partners LP
DCP Midstream, LP
Energy Transfer LP
EnLink Midstream, LLC
Enterprise Products Partners, LP
Genesis Energy, L.P.
Magellan Midstream Partners, L.P.
MPLX LP
NuStar Energy L.P.
ONEOK, Inc.
Plains All American Pipeline, L.P.
Targa Resources Corp.
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Exhibit 31.01
CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO SECTION 302
OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002
I, Bradley C. Barron, certify that:
1. I have reviewed this quarterly report on Form 10-Q of NuStar Energy L.P. (the “registrant”);
2. Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to make the
statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period covered by this report;
3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in all material respects the
financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this report;
4. The registrant’s other certifying officer and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in
Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f)) for
the registrant and have:
(a) Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under our supervision,
to ensure that material information relating to the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within those
entities, particularly during the period in which this report is being prepared;
(b) Designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting to be designed under our
supervision, to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external
purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles;
(c) Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant’s disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our conclusions about the
effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report based on such evaluation; and
(d) Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the registrant’s most
recent fiscal quarter (the registrant’s fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual report) that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to
materially affect, the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting; and
5. The registrant’s other certifying officer and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over financial reporting, to the
registrant’s auditors and the audit committee of the registrant’s board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent functions):
(a) All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting which are
reasonably likely to adversely affect the registrant’s ability to record, process, summarize and report financial information; and
(b) Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the registrant’s internal
control over financial reporting.
Date: May 6, 2022
/s/ Bradley C. Barron
Bradley C. Barron
President and Chief Executive Officer

Exhibit 31.02
CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO SECTION 302
OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002
I, Thomas R. Shoaf, certify that:
1. I have reviewed this quarterly report on Form 10-Q of NuStar Energy L.P. (the “registrant”);
2. Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to make the
statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period covered by this report;
3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in all material respects the
financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this report;
4. The registrant’s other certifying officer and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in
Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f)) for
the registrant and have:
(a) Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under our supervision,
to ensure that material information relating to the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within those
entities, particularly during the period in which this report is being prepared;
(b) Designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting to be designed under our
supervision, to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external
purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles;
(c) Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant’s disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our conclusions about the
effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report based on such evaluation; and
(d) Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the registrant’s most
recent fiscal quarter (the registrant’s fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual report) that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to
materially affect, the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting; and
5. The registrant’s other certifying officer and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over financial reporting, to the
registrant’s auditors and the audit committee of the registrant’s board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent functions):
(a) All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting which are
reasonably likely to adversely affect the registrant’s ability to record, process, summarize and report financial information; and
(b) Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the registrant’s internal
control over financial reporting.
Date: May 6, 2022
/s/ Thomas R. Shoaf
Thomas R. Shoaf
Executive Vice President and Chief Financial Officer

Exhibit 32.01
CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO
18 U.S.C. SECTION 1350,
AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO
SECTION 906 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002
In connection with the Quarterly Report of NuStar Energy L.P. (the Partnership) on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended March 31, 2022, as filed with the
Securities and Exchange Commission on the date hereof (the Report), I, Bradley C. Barron, President and Chief Executive Officer of NuStar GP, LLC, the
general partner of the general partner of the Partnership, hereby certify, pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the
Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, that:
1.

The Report fully complies with the requirements of Section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934; and

2.

The information contained in the Report fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial condition and results of operations of the Partnership.

/s/ Bradley C. Barron
Bradley C. Barron
President and Chief Executive Officer
May 6, 2022

Exhibit 32.02
CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO
18 U.S.C. SECTION 1350,
AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO
SECTION 906 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002
In connection with the Quarterly Report of NuStar Energy L.P. (the Partnership) on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended March 31, 2022, as filed with the
Securities and Exchange Commission on the date hereof (the Report), I, Thomas R. Shoaf, Executive Vice President and Chief Financial Officer of NuStar
GP, LLC, the general partner of the general partner of the Partnership, hereby certify, pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as adopted pursuant to
Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, that:
1.

The Report fully complies with the requirements of Section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934; and

2.

The information contained in the Report fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial condition and results of operations of the Partnership.

/s/ Thomas R. Shoaf
Thomas R. Shoaf
Executive Vice President and Chief Financial Officer
May 6, 2022

